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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Welcome to this

          3  hearing on the City Council's Committee on

          4  Transportation. My name is John Liu and I have the

          5  privilege of chairing this Committee and running

          6  this afternoon's hearing.

          7                 Today we will examine the

          8  transportation projects in New York City that would

          9  be funded by the rebuild and renew Transportation

         10  Bond Act.

         11                 This Bond Act, valued at $2.9

         12  billion, is that portion of the $35.9 billion

         13  capital plan that will be appearing on the November

         14  8 ballot statewide.

         15                 The Bond Act portion would be evenly

         16  distributed between the State DOT and the MTA, each

         17  receiving $1.45 billion.

         18                 While the prospect of more funds for

         19  transportation sounds great, the Committee will

         20  examine, number one, the extent to which the State

         21  capital program relies on this Transportation Bond

         22  Act.

         23                 Number two, the potential costs and

         24  benefits of its passage, and number three, the

         25  impact of its failure to passage if that should
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          2  happen.

          3                 There is certainly consensus that New

          4  York has very dire transportation needs that must be

          5  addressed to accommodate its population and economic

          6  growth. And in fact, currently the New York region

          7  ranks sixth in the amount of traffic delays

          8  experienced on an average trip.

          9                 Because of congestion and the

         10  unpredictability of travel times, the economic costs

         11  to the New York, Northern New Jersey region was $7.1

         12  billion in 2002, which is an increase of 81 percent

         13  since 1990.

         14                 Given such information, today's

         15  hearing raises the question of whether the

         16  Transportation Bond Act will help reduce congestion

         17  in New York City, and help keep our arterial

         18  infrastructure in the state of good repair.

         19                 We raise this question while

         20  highlighting that it is not feasible to solve

         21  congestion only through highway construction. This

         22  underscores the need to adequately and responsibly

         23  fund the mass transit.

         24                 Despite a 50 percent increase in the

         25  region's population, and an 80 percent increase in
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          2  employment over the past 60 years, our subway system

          3  has not expanded during this time.

          4                 The Bond Act would fund state of good

          5  repair core programs, and expansion projects for New

          6  York City Transit. Federal funds would also become

          7  available as a result of this investment.

          8                 The potential economic transportation

          9  and environmental benefits have been documented from

         10  the Bond Act. Direct investment from the Bond Act is

         11  estimated to create 120,000 jobs. Some of those

         12  testifying today will point out additional benefits.

         13                 There are also questions and concerns

         14  about this financing. For example, is the Bond Act

         15  the key opportunity for improving mobility, or is it

         16  simply a component of an overall capital plan whose

         17  structure may result in difficult budget decisions

         18  five years from now?

         19                 Will the Bond Act be a sound

         20  investment, or will it simply offset a capital plan

         21  whose debt may result in higher taxes, higher fares,

         22  or reduced services?

         23                 Will this debt make the state and

         24  City more competitive or less competitive? And will

         25  the benefits of this Bond Act outweigh the costs?
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          2                 I think there has been quite a bit of

          3  discussion in the public about this upcoming Bond

          4  Act, and it's clear that all, the vast majority of

          5  elected officials and the public alike support the

          6  projects that are proposed to be financed through

          7  the sale of these bonds. It's less clear in the

          8  public's eye whether the MTA can be trusted with

          9  this additional money, especially in light of its

         10  ever-increasing estimates of the surplus that the

         11  agency will end this year with, nearly a billion

         12  dollars with still no word on what the agency is

         13  planning to do with that nearly $1 billion of

         14  unexpected surplus.

         15                 We are going to be joined by many

         16  witnesses today, each of them are highly expert in

         17  their respective fields, and this Committee is

         18  certainly very honored to have the input from all of

         19  these distinguished individuals.

         20                 We have several panels composed

         21  today, and we will start with the first panel

         22  consisting with some of our state officials,

         23  including Christopher Boylan, Timothy Gilchrist and

         24  Doug Currey.

         25                 And after this panel testifies, we
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          2  will hear from the Commissioner of the Department of

          3  Transportation of New York City, Iris Weinshall, who

          4  would normally go first, but she's actually

          5  testifying across the street, so as soon as she

          6  comes over we will accommodate her.

          7                 Panel three will consist of Richard

          8  Brodsky, who may or may not be here. Dan Golub,

          9  representing Assemblymember Richard Gottfried, and

         10  the representatives of Borough Presidents.

         11                 Gentlemen, it's a pleasure to have

         12  you here in this hearing, and I suppose we should

         13  start with Christopher Boylan, the Deputy Executive

         14  Director at the Metropolitan Transportation

         15  Authority, followed by Timothy Gilchrist, State

         16  Department of Transportation Director, and then

         17  Douglas Currey, Regional Director at the State DOT.

         18                 Thank you for joining us.

         19                 MR. BOYLAN: Thanks, Mr. Chairman. If

         20  you don't mind, Michelle will set up a couple of

         21  props that we have behind us that will help describe

         22  some of the things that we're doing related to the

         23  Bond Act.

         24                 First off, I want to thank you and

         25  the members of the Committee for highlighting this
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          2  matter because it is a critical transportation issue

          3  for the region, and it is critical, not only for the

          4  MTA and its transit system, but for modes across the

          5  State, and that's why you're sitting here with New

          6  York State DOT, so we can talk about the entire

          7  spectrum of the investments that it contains.

          8                 Just three short weeks from tomorrow,

          9  obviously the voters will go to the polls and in

         10  addition to casting a vote for their favorite

         11  candidates, we'll be presented with a choice to vote

         12  for or against the Bond Act. And what we found from

         13  the 2000 Bond Act that, as you know, is narrowly

         14  defeated by a very close margin, there was no single

         15  reason for that, but there was something that was

         16  lacking in the public's mind, and that was

         17  understanding what was in the Bond Act, and what the

         18  impact would be, whether they voted for or against

         19  it, and five years later we've learned from that

         20  lesson and we want to make sure that the public is

         21  educated about the Bond Act.

         22                 And, so, for its part the MTA has

         23  undertaken an in-system informational campaign to

         24  educate transit users, particularly those who take

         25  the 8 million rides a day on our system.
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          2                 Simply put, it's about

          3  transportation, it's about subways, buses, commuter

          4  rails, expansion projects, highways and bridges, you

          5  name it, there's something for everyone in the State

          6  Transportation world, and that's the message we're

          7  communicating through a series of car cards that you

          8  see over our shoulders here today.

          9                 In addition to its straightforward

         10  tag lines, it's all about transportation and a host

         11  of sub headlines, it's all about subways, it's all

         12  about buses, all about expansion projects. We

         13  encourage our customers to learn more by going to

         14  our website, MTA.info, where we list more of the

         15  details about our Bond Act-dependent project. In

         16  fact, Mr. Chairman, I brought with me also, and for

         17  the Committee, a fascimile of what we have on our

         18  website, and this not only describes the MTA's

         19  projects but it links to the New York State DOT

         20  projects that are in the Bond Act.

         21                 As you may know, as a result of our

         22  capital program that was negotiated in Albany last

         23  year, the plan called for a Bond Act of $2.9 billion

         24  split evenly between the MTA and New York State DOT.

         25  That left us with $1.45 billion, as you mentioned
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          2  earlier.

          3                 But what could that mean to us when

          4  we have a $21 billion capital plan because it

          5  represents about seven percent of that plan? Well,

          6  if you ride the subways, the Act will provide $60

          7  million to purchase more of the new high-tech cars

          8  that you've been seeing on the system the last few

          9  years, and you know and I know that our customers

         10  really like them. They are bright, they're clean,

         11  they have good announcements and people want more of

         12  them.

         13                 Our customers also tell us they want

         14  new and cleaner buses, $90 million of the program

         15  will go toward buying hybrid electric local buses,

         16  as well as clean fuel express buses. And $30 million

         17  will go toward a bus locator system, which will

         18  allow us to in fact monitor our buses where they

         19  are, and hopefully in the future provide our

         20  customers with better information about when the bus

         21  is coming.

         22                 In addition, there are behind the

         23  scenes infrastructure pieces that people don't focus

         24  on all the time, tunnel lighting, track replacement

         25  and the like. They're all listed on our website, and
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          2  I won't go into all of them but they are things that

          3  are very critical to the operation of the system.

          4                 There are also investments for other

          5  part of the MTA region. Long Island Railroad and

          6  Metro North will get $55 million for new M7 rail

          7  cars, which clearly make a difference in terms of

          8  their rides. There is more money for commuter

          9  parking and for track work on the railroads. But if

         10  you add it up, what I mentioned here today, it

         11  doesn't come close to the $1.45 billion. So, where

         12  does the largest chunk go?

         13                 Well, you know that our system has

         14  not been expanded in any major way since 1964 when

         15  the Verrazano Bridge was opened. But if you go back

         16  in our history to the early part of the century,

         17  between 1913 and 1920, New York City spent the

         18  equivalent of $22 billion in today's dollars to

         19  double the size of the subway system.

         20                 And while we're not proposing a

         21  doubling of the size of the system, we are proposing

         22  to move forward with two critical expansion

         23  projects, the Second Avenue Subway Project and our

         24  East Side Access Project, each will receive $450

         25  million from the Bond Act.
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          2                 I won't go into the details of each

          3  of those projects, because I think the Committee is

          4  very familiar with the benefits of Second Avenue

          5  Subway and bringing Long Island Railroad into the

          6  Grand Central Terminal, but let me suggest that

          7  these are projects that our customers in the region

          8  have been waiting for for decades.

          9                 The Bond Act will also allocate $100

         10  million toward the construction of a rail link from

         11  Lower Manhattan to JFK, and that will help

         12  revitalize Lower Manhattan and make it a more likely

         13  destination for our business travelers. It will also

         14  make for a better commute for Manhattan out to the

         15  airport, and this is a key to a more efficient

         16  system in the region.

         17                 Increased funding for our projects

         18  benefits everyone in the region, and even everyone

         19  in the New York State area, even if they don't use

         20  our services. An effective transportation system is

         21  vital to New York's economy and without a strong

         22  metropolitan economy the entire state suffers.

         23                 The New York Metro Region is the

         24  engine that drives much of the State's economy and

         25  we must keep it running full speed.
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          2                 We also, as you may know, make

          3  investments in equipment, that happens to come from

          4  various parts of the State, so there are benefits

          5  for the entire State by the dollars that are spent

          6  at the MTA.

          7                 While, as I mentioned earlier, our

          8  job is to educate and we're actively doing so. We're

          9  pleased we're not alone in this effort. In fact, in

         10  addition to your own efforts to focus attention on

         11  the impact of the Act, there is a broad-based

         12  diverse coalition of groups that have already begun

         13  to educate the public about that.

         14                 Environmental groups, transportation

         15  advocates and citizens organizations of all kinds

         16  are working together to communicate from Brooklyn to

         17  Buffalo the types of investments we're making.

         18                 In closing, Mr. Chairman, the best

         19  outcome for the MTA is if the electorate feels fully

         20  aware of what they're voting on on November 8th.

         21                 If they do, no matter which way they

         22  vote, we collectively will have done our job.

         23                 Thank you for providing me with this

         24  opportunity. I'd be happy to answer questions after

         25  my colleagues speak.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

          3                 If I may ask the indulgence of our

          4  esteemed State officials. Well, thank you very much.

          5  Why don't you proceed.

          6                 MR. GILCHRIST: Okay, thank you. Thank

          7  you, Mr. Chairman, for this opportunity to testify.

          8  I'm joined here today by Doug Currey, our Regional

          9  Director for our New York City office located in

         10  Long Island City.  I'll present today's testimony

         11  and if there's difficult questions, Doug will be

         12  glad to respond to them.

         13                 I'd like to thank you for the

         14  opportunity to present testimony on the Rebuild and

         15  Renew New York Transportation Bond Act. As you know,

         16  the New York State Department of Transportation is

         17  responsible for a vast transportation system,

         18  including the maintenance and operation of

         19  approximately 38,000 lane miles of highways and

         20  7,600 bridges, of which 825 lane miles and 600

         21  bridges are located in New York City.

         22                 New York State DOT also has an

         23  oversight role for the funding, safety and/or policy

         24  affecting the State's vast transit, rail, aviation,

         25  port and canal systems.
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          2                 Working to maintain and improve and

          3  integrate these systems in a tight fiscal climate is

          4  truly a balancing act. Yet, the State recognizes the

          5  importance of investing in the Transportation

          6  system, which is so vital to the everyday lives of

          7  New Yorkers and to the strength of its economy.

          8                 To this end, the Governor and the

          9  Legislature signed a Memorandum of Understanding on

         10  July 13, 2005 that represents the agreement on the

         11  State's largest transportation capital program ever,

         12  providing $35.9 billion in capital investments for

         13  the period April 1, 2005 to March 31, 2010, and as

         14  many speakers have said, it's essentially split

         15  between the Metropolitan Transportation Authority

         16  and New York State DOT. And as Chris mentioned, the

         17  Memorandum of Understanding governing the use of

         18  these funds, as well as the complete project list,

         19  is available on the State DOT website and with a

         20  link to and from the MTA websites.

         21                 Chris already talked about the MTA

         22  portion of the program, and I'm going to focus my

         23  remarks on the Bond Act portion of the New York

         24  State DOT capital program.

         25                 This $1.45 billion is integral to the
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          2  State's $17.9 billion five-year transportation

          3  program. The Bond Act funding will allow critical

          4  components of the existing transportation

          5  infrastructure to be modernized and make

          6  improvements possible in order to reduce congestion,

          7  especially in the New York Metropolitan area.

          8                 Specifically, the Bond Act will

          9  provide $1.139 billion in investments for highway

         10  and bridge projects throughout the State with nearly

         11  a quarter of that investment within New York City,

         12  and 60 percent of that investment in the

         13  Metropolitan New York area, improving the safety,

         14  mobility and reliability of these systems and

         15  contributing to a larger construction program in New

         16  York State's history.

         17                 Construction lettings are scheduled

         18  to grow from $1.75 billion in the current fiscal

         19  year to 2.158 billion in 2009-2010.

         20                 Further, it is estimated that highway

         21  and bridge investments from the Bond Act will

         22  prevent approximately 2,000 crashes annually on our

         23  State's highway and bridge system, and save the

         24  drivers an estimated $172 million annually in

         25  reduced congestion delays.
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          2                 New York State DOT's responsibility

          3  extends well beyond the State highways and bridges.

          4                 The Bond Act will also provide $135

          5  million investments in the rail, the State's rail

          6  and inland port system. Rail investments will

          7  improve the reliability of passenger and freight

          8  service along key corridors, most of those corridors

          9  feeding directly into New York City, promote the

         10  development of rail truck freight terminals in key

         11  locations, including the Long Island Truck Rail

         12  Intermodal Facility in the Town of Islip to reduce

         13  the number of trucks moving from New York City, and

         14  increase capacity in modernized tracks and

         15  clearances along freight corridors in the New York

         16  Metropolitan area, improving rail freight service

         17  and reducing traffic congestion caused by large

         18  trucks in the New York metropolitan area.

         19                 The Bond Act will also provide $76

         20  million to support generally the aviation security

         21  and business aviation investment, $50 million to

         22  provide the incremental cost at 250 clean fuel buses

         23  throughout the State and $50 million to preserve and

         24  enhance the State's valuable canal system

         25  recreational trails.
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          2                 Perhaps most significantly, the total

          3  $2.9 billion Bond Act investment will help create or

          4  maintain over 120,000 dollars in New York State

          5  jobs.

          6                 The Bond Act includes funding for

          7  several statewide corridor initiatives that I'd like

          8  to concentrate some of my discussion on the specific

          9  investments in the New York City area, which is

         10  substantial.

         11                 In addition to the MTA investments,

         12  the Bond Act will provide 272.5 million in

         13  investments in the five boroughs, including 230

         14  million in highway and bridge projects, 31.5 million

         15  dollars in rail projects, and 11 million dollars in

         16  Transit investments.

         17                 Some key examples include:

         18                 - $81 million for improvement to the

         19  Kew Gardens/Van Wyck Expressway in Queens;

         20                 - 23 million to reconstruct, for the

         21  reconstruction of the Korean War Veterans Parkway on

         22  Staten Island;

         23                 - $25 million for safety and access

         24  improvements to Route 440 West Shore Expressway on

         25  Staten Island;
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          2                 - $43 million working with the City

          3  of New York for improvements to intelligent

          4  transportation system operations in Manhattan,

          5  Queens and the Bronx;

          6                 - Construction of the Bronx River

          7  Greenway between Westchester Avenue and East Tremont

          8  Avenue;

          9                 - Improvements to provide better

         10  access to LaGuardia, safety and operational

         11  improvements to the Grand Central Parkway in Queens;

         12                 - Upgrades to Long Island Railroad

         13  track and bridges for improved freight service in

         14  Queens and Brooklyn; and

         15                 - funding to provide the incremental

         16  cost of clean fuel vehicles to replace the fleets

         17  formerly operated by the New York City private

         18  operators and to be provided by MTA bus.

         19                 Consistent with New York State DOT's

         20  priorities, Bond Act investments offer important

         21  mobility and reliability, safety, security,

         22  environmental and economic benefits to New York

         23  State.

         24                 Bond Act funding, as shown in the pie

         25  chart in my testimony, represents eight percent of
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          2  our five-year capital program. Without it, there

          3  will be a significant shortfall in the program, and

          4  it will require New York State DOT to reevaluate the

          5  entire program and replace the timely delivery of

          6  numerous critical infrastructure projects in

          7  jeopardy.

          8                 New York State DOT and the State must

          9  carefully balance its transportation investments

         10  with the resources available. New York State DOT is

         11  committed to maintaining and improving the

         12  transportation system in order to support economic

         13  development and ensure New York remains competitive.

         14                 The Rebuild and Renew New York

         15  Transportation Bond Act is a critical component of

         16  our five-year program to improve and support the

         17  transportation system and the economy of both the

         18  City and the State.

         19                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         20  testify and we'd be glad to handle any questions.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         22  I have just a few questions for Mr. Boylan.

         23                 You mentioned that in 2000 the Bond

         24  Act was defeated with a narrow margin. Do you

         25  remember what that margin was?
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          2                 MR. BOYLAN: I don't off the top of my

          3  head, Mr. Chairman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You could have a

          5  very wide definition of the word narrow. I think it

          6  was, is more than a ten percent spread, which I

          7  don't think most people consider now. And that was

          8  at a time when actually confidence in the MTA was

          9  relatively high. It was just a couple of years after

         10  the elimination, after the introduction of the

         11  MetroCard, the implementation of MetroCard

         12  discounts, the elimination of two-fare zones in New

         13  York City. And, so, that was, the Year 2000 was a

         14  year where people were feeling pretty good about the

         15  MTA. I know you were there back then, so you deserve

         16  some credit for that. Now this is 2005 and you, in

         17  your testimony you basically talk about the great

         18  projects that the Bond Act proceeds will fund, but

         19  there's not much mention of exactly what the MTA has

         20  done to try to inspire more confidence in the public

         21  and maybe try to return the public confidence in the

         22  Authority to the levels of 2005.

         23                 I don't think you need me to sit here

         24  and explain to you what I mean by public confidence.

         25  I mean, earlier this year, it's just not been a
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          2  great year at the MTA. And whether you deserve it or

          3  not, the sentiment is out there. There's no question

          4  about it, at least in my mind.

          5                 In August, I did conduct a poll that

          6  was thoroughly vetted, and showed that although most

          7  New York City residents do support the need for the

          8  projects proposed to be financed by this Bond Act,

          9  there was a very strong feeling that they didn't

         10  trust the MTA to do it.

         11                 And, so, when we did the survey in

         12  August, I specifically mentioned that we did it in

         13  August and released the results at the end of August

         14  so that there would be enough time to try to change

         15  that public perception.

         16                 Now, I think you have relied on

         17  Statewide elected officials, elected officials all

         18  across the City, to go out there and talk about how

         19  important those projects are, but has the MTA

         20  actually done anything to try to shore up public

         21  confidence in what you're able to do? Or are you

         22  just still sticking by the line that your

         23  representatives gave me in March, that you're fully

         24  confident that the Bond Act will pass?

         25                 MR. BOYLAN: Well, you know, you're
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          2  right about perception. Sometimes perceptions become

          3  the reality you have to live with every day, and

          4  unfortunately the perception I don't think

          5  necessarily mirrors the ability of the MTA to

          6  deliver the projects that we're talking about here.

          7                 In fact, we have a very good track

          8  record of delivering major projects with minor

          9  exceptions here and there on time and on budget, and

         10  you know, I don't have the list to present to you at

         11  the moment, but I do think that is the history of

         12  the MTA over the last 20 years.

         13                 I do think in the last year or two

         14  we've made great strides, our Chairman and our

         15  Executive Director, have tried to make us more

         16  transparent in terms of our financial documents in

         17  our situation, and I think there are very few

         18  organizations that probably have as much shared with

         19  the public as we do now, and I hope that is going to

         20  improve the public's perception of our ability to

         21  manage those projects.

         22                 I do think there are some surface

         23  answers that are beyond our abilities to predict.

         24  Some revenue streams this past year have produced

         25  more revenues than folks had anticipated, but I
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          2  think that's also the case for many government

          3  entities, whether it's the City or the State. And my

          4  colleagues, I see heads shaking here, so there are

          5  some economic revenue streams that have produced

          6  some revenues we hadn't anticipated.

          7                 But we try to explain those, and

          8  sometimes they don't always play as well as you'd

          9  like. But those are the facts.

         10                 And I think we've also spent a lot of

         11  time revamping the involvement of our board in the

         12  decisions that we've made going forward, so the

         13  public feels there's adequate oversight of what the

         14  management team is doing on a regular basis.

         15                 So, I'm hoping the combination of

         16  those things will convince the public that the MTA

         17  means to be as transparent as we can.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         19                 We've been joined by Council Member

         20  Helen Sears from Queens. And we have several

         21  hearings going on simultaneously, so we'll have

         22  members coming in and out of this hearing.

         23                 And I'll try to keep my questions

         24  short and maybe we can try to keep the responses

         25  short, too, because we have lots of people who are
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          2  testifying here.

          3                 Let's just talk about one of the big

          4  issues on New Yorkers' minds right now, which is MTA

          5  security, security of a subway system.

          6                 Now, after nearly three years of

          7  having $600 million available to harden the system

          8  against terror attacks, after the London bombings,

          9  the MTA finally announced a concrete step that it

         10  was taking, and they announced that about 212, or

         11  220 million dollars was going to be spent on one

         12  contract with Lockheed, to basically install cameras

         13  and have computers kind of using artificial

         14  intelligence, or whatever, recognize what was being

         15  seen on those cameras.

         16                 And then just this past week, it

         17  became clear that the MTA itself had I guess

         18  underestimated the cost of just that one piece by

         19  more than ten percent.

         20                 And that's the kind of -- I don't

         21  know if you realize it or not but people do think

         22  about those issues. But when you say you're going to

         23  spend this much on this project and this much on

         24  that project, and how many hundreds of millions of

         25  dollars to start building the Second Avenue Subway
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          2  and the East Side Access, you give those numbers,

          3  but I just want to caution you that, you know, don't

          4  think that people are just going to accept your word

          5  for what it is, when there are lots of projects that

          6  the MTA engages in that don't come in on budget and

          7  don't come in on time.

          8                 And, so, you can talk about the

          9  importance of these projects all you want, but at

         10  some point you really have to show the public that

         11  you're up to it.

         12                 Is it something that -- it's okay for

         13  you to disagree with me if you think that the MTA is

         14  in good shape and that the public has plenty of

         15  confidence in your ability to deliver these projects

         16  on time and on budget.

         17                 We're not asking the public to

         18  approve a budget for the MTA, we're asking the

         19  public to borrow money for the MTA to use. And that

         20  is a big difference between -- you know, we on this

         21  Council and on this Committee, we talk to our

         22  constituents. And I ride the subways and I actually

         23  just asked total strangers what are they thinking,

         24  and, you know, most people don't know about the Bond

         25  Act, but the ones who do, they support the project,
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          2  but they also question whether or not the MTA is up

          3  to the job. Especially when you've got a lot of

          4  other things on your plate.

          5                 MR. BOYLAN: If I could? We do have a

          6  difficult job in terms of trying to sit down and

          7  communicate with the public through the lens of

          8  having a bad story come out. There are probably many

          9  dozens of good stories for every bad story that

         10  comes out. I'm not going to tell you that we're

         11  perfect because we know there are areas or specific

         12  projects that may not have come out exactly the way

         13  we want them to. But if we have the opportunity to

         14  sit down and really discuss them piece-by-piece with

         15  the public and others, I think the balance would

         16  fall on the side of our folks doing a pretty good

         17  job on balance.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: What would be just a

         19  quick example of multi- -- well, a project with a

         20  cost in the hundreds of millions of dollars in the

         21  last five years that the MTA has come in on time and

         22  on budget?

         23                 MR. BOYLAN: One that comes to mind

         24  immediately is the 63rd Street connector, which was

         25  a $646 million project that connected the Queens
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          2  Boulevard lines into the Sixth Avenue lines in

          3  Manhattan. That came in on time and slightly under

          4  budget. That until these mega projects, as we call

          5  them, Second Avenue Subway and East Side Access were

          6  proposed, that was the single largest project that

          7  the MTA had handled, and it would have done well.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The 63rd Street

          9  connector project.

         10                 MR. BOYLAN: Connector project.

         11                 In fact, that's the upper level of

         12  the two-level tunnel that East Side Access will use,

         13  and the upper level is intended for the subway, and

         14  right now I believe it's the F line that goes

         15  through there.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Great. That's an

         17  example I'll be happy to cite. You came in on time

         18  and slightly under budget.

         19                 MR. BOYLAN: That's correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Just two more

         21  questions.

         22                 MR. BOYLAN: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The question of the

         24  surplus right now, there is nearly a $1 billion

         25  surplus. The MTA has not signaled what it plans to
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          2  do, except to say that perhaps close to half of it

          3  should be used to build a platform on the West Side

          4  Yards. Is that part of the plans? Is there anything

          5  you can tell us about what the MTA attempts to do

          6  with that surplus?

          7                 MR. BOYLAN: I can't tell you exactly,

          8  but I can tell you the reason --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, just the

         10  general thinking behind what to do --

         11                 MR. BOYLAN: Sure. I think the Board

         12  is considering a couple of alternatives. One is the

         13  platform idea, which is intended to provide ongoing

         14  revenue streams going forward so that we don't have

         15  to worry about finding the next dollar, that this

         16  would generate monies.

         17                 There are some other alternatives.

         18  Folks were talking about liabilities, in terms of

         19  our pension system, paying some of those down, which

         20  also may have some returns.

         21                 And there are other options that

         22  folks are looking at that I'm not either privy to or

         23  unable to share at the moment, but the Board will

         24  weigh those and try to come up with the best

         25  solution. The input we've gotten from you and others
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          2  is being considered and weighed.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: What would that

          4  input be?

          5                 MR. BOYLAN: Well, folks said, well,

          6  this may not be your best idea, give me another

          7  range of options, and folks are looking at all

          8  different kinds of options.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I think it will help

         10  your case over the next few weeks if you could let

         11  the public know what it is that you're going to

         12  spend nearly a billion dollars of surplus on and why

         13  it is that you still need the public to let you

         14  borrow a billion and a half dollars.

         15                 MR. BOYLAN: Well, I should say before

         16  that that probably close to half that is already

         17  being spent on additional security enhancements.

         18  Cleaning at New York City Transit --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Five-hundred million

         20  dollars?

         21                 MR. BOYLAN: But it's over a

         22  multi-year budget. We do multi-year budgeting, so it

         23  will balance our budget through 2006 and 2007 which

         24  will leave about half of that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: In the capital
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          2  budget that was approved by the Legislature this

          3  past, I guess, late spring/summer, that already

          4  includes another $500 million for security

          5  enhancements, on top of the $591 million that you

          6  got three years ago.

          7                 MR. BOYLAN: That's correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, are you saying

          9  that on top of that $500 million that was approved

         10  by the State Legislature?

         11                 MR. BOYLAN: I think one of the things

         12  that didn't get out very clearly in our discussion

         13  of security was that we had what we call our

         14  immediate operating security expenditures that come

         15  out of the operating budget and then there were the

         16  capital expenditures that are funded through our

         17  capital program. The $591 million and then the other

         18  500 million, those are what are in what we would

         19  call our capital program.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Capital.

         21                 MR. BOYLAN: Those are longer term

         22  expenditures. They are things that need to be

         23  engineered, and they need to be bid and they need to

         24  be constructed. And those by their own nature would

         25  take many years to roll out.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, you're going to

          3  use nearly a half a billion dollars of operating

          4  expenses to --

          5                 MR. BOYLAN: No, no. In addition to

          6  that, since 9/11 we spent about between 250 and 300

          7  million on operating things like adding additional

          8  police officers to the MTA police, adding an

          9  additional 260 bridge and tunnel officers to inspect

         10  vehicles at tunnels, creating a K-9 team as part of

         11  our Police Department so that we can actually

         12  detective explosives, because there is no

         13  commercially available explosion detection device

         14  that really works in the immediate time frame.

         15                 Creating two emergency service units

         16  for the Police Department so we can respond to bomb

         17  threats and so forth.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So that's going to

         19  take half a billion dollars of operating expenses?

         20                 MR. BOYLAN: No, there's a whole other

         21  list of things we're doing in terms of cameras and

         22  detection devices.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But that's not

         24  finalized yet, that's what you're thinking about?

         25                 MR. BOYLAN: No, many of those dollars
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          2  have been spent, and that's the unfortunate part

          3  about the message, our message not having gotten out

          4  there as well as it should have in that discussion

          5  about the $591 million because separate and apart is

          6  about $250 million we've already spent in terms of

          7  operating monies.

          8                 We have not waited while those

          9  capital program projects got designed.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         11                 I do want to wrap up. I don't think

         12  that it's been an issue of not getting the message

         13  out there clearly. I mean, of course the public

         14  always expected that the MTA would have to spend

         15  more money on the operating side to keep people safe

         16  in the Transit system, but the fact remains that

         17  it's been nearly three years since that $600 million

         18  of capital money is available for the MTA to use,

         19  and there is certainly a level of dissatisfaction in

         20  the public that not only has it not been used so in

         21  such a relatively long period, nearly three years,

         22  at least two and a half years, but that there's been

         23  no news about what the MTA plans to do with it. And

         24  then the news finally came out in the aftermath of

         25  the London bombing, when all of a sudden it became a
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          2  very high profile issue, and the MTA was forced to

          3  talk about some of the arrangements.

          4                 Just to let you know, we are going to

          5  have a hearing about that in January.

          6                 One question that I've always had for

          7  you and Chairman Kalikow is, why can't you use the

          8  new-found unexpected surplus to plug the budget gap

          9  that was found just three months earlier?

         10                 Your representatives testified at our

         11  hearing in March, then again in May, I'm sorry, in

         12  March, that your capital program, the core component

         13  of your capital program is $17.1 billion, was

         14  absolutely essential to keep the subway system in a

         15  state of good repair. Those were their exact words.

         16                 In April, the legislature approved

         17  the budget and it did not fully fund the $17.1

         18  billion core capital program that the MTA had said

         19  was necessary to keep the system in a state of good

         20  repair. In fact, it was about $1.2 billion short.

         21  Eight-hundred of that was for the subway system. So,

         22  you announce that you'd have to cancel 12, cancel

         23  renovations of 12 subway stations along with other

         24  things.

         25                 While that you were $830 million in
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          2  the budget approved by the Legislature, we found

          3  that out in April. Three months later, only three

          4  months later in July, you found out you had an $833

          5  million unexpected, unanticipated surplus. Why

          6  couldn't you just use that surplus? I know it's a

          7  one-time operating surplus, but you can use that to

          8  plug this capital deficit so that you can go ahead

          9  and do those station renovations that according to

         10  the MTA's own testimony in front of this Committee,

         11  was absolutely essential to keep the system in a

         12  state of good repair.

         13                 I mean, that was just like such a

         14  simple thing, and the numbers were almost exact,

         15  $830 million short in April, $833 million found

         16  unexpectedly in July.

         17                 MR. BOYLAN: Well, my sense is that we

         18  still see those as operating funds, and the capital

         19  program expenditures are expenditures that play out

         20  over many, many years, and the operating issues that

         21  we have to deal with in our multi-year budget are

         22  ones that the Board is not willing at the moment to

         23  push over to make a pay-as-you-go capital

         24  expenditure.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Come on, it's not
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          2  pay as you go. It's a one-time surplus, you can

          3  easily put that into the capital program. The

          4  capital program, once you have the monies in place,

          5  you can go ahead with those projects, you can go

          6  ahead with the renovations of those subway stations.

          7                 So, you know, well, thanks for doing

          8  your best.

          9                 We have a question from Council

         10  Member Sears. I have one last question for both of

         11  the agencies; how much in federal funds would we

         12  lose if the Bond Act does not get passed?

         13                 MR. GILCHRIST: From New York State

         14  DOT point of view, our $17 billion program is made

         15  up of $7.125 billion in federal aid. Absent the Bond

         16  Act, most of our investment would go to ensure that

         17  we did not lose that money, we would reduce many of

         18  our 100 percent state projects, we would certainly

         19  not have any opportunity to seek any federal

         20  discretionary money, where in the past we've been

         21  successful in getting that, especially for our

         22  bridge program.

         23                 MR. BOYLAN: The rule of thumb at the

         24  MTA is on our regular capital program expenditures,

         25  not the mega project, if you will, like Second
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          2  Avenue and East Side Access, federal funding makes

          3  up about 27 to 30 percent of those expenditures. So,

          4  one could just apply that to the non-mega project

          5  portion.

          6                 In terms of Second Avenue Subway and

          7  East Side Access, clearly we're very interested in

          8  moving those projects forward because the federal

          9  government has gotten close to promising in excess

         10  of $4 billion for those two projects. That would go

         11  beyond the scope of our current capital program, so

         12  I can't say that that's all on the line here in this

         13  particular capital program period, but what we're

         14  trying to do is make sure that the feds know we have

         15  the State and local share in place.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is it your testimony

         17  that that federal funding would be highly dependent

         18  upon the passage of this Bond Act?

         19                 MR. BOYLAN: Well, they're certainly

         20  looking at whether the Bond Act passes, in terms of

         21  going forward with our projects, and we'd have to

         22  revisit it, if it does not happen. I don't know the

         23  definitive answer of how one might work around that,

         24  but certainly it's a factor in terms of our

         25  discussion with the feds.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. But there's no

          3  absolute clear link between the two? Is it based on

          4  past experience? What is it based upon?

          5                 MR. BOYLAN: Well, it's part of our

          6  funding package to come up with state and local

          7  share, and the feds want to see that we have all of

          8  our funding in place before they promise their final

          9  share, their $4 billion. So, it creates another

         10  issue for us if it's not there.

         11                 So, yes, there is a link.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. So we're

         13  talking about many multiples of federal funding that

         14  would be greatly eased if this Bond Act would be

         15  passed?

         16                 MR. BOYLAN: That's fair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And is that the same

         18  on the DOT side?

         19                 MR. GILCHRIST: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, thank you.

         21                 And just a couple of questions on

         22  DOT. First, I want to thank you folks in the City

         23  for always keeping the local elected officials

         24  up-to-date about what's happening, and even in my

         25  area in Queens, I know there are many projects that
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          2  the State DOT is undertaking, and we get updates,

          3  maybe even more than we'd like, but it's good to see

          4  that they almost always come in on time and under

          5  budget. So, thank you very much.

          6                 My question for you, I have a couple

          7  of very quick and small questions, but my question

          8  to you is that the nearly 25 percent of the Bond Act

          9  that would go for transportation projects other than

         10  the MTA, are coming to New York City, and you've

         11  described kind of a lot of small projects that are

         12  spread pretty widely across the board, are these

         13  small projects really -- I mean, for example, the

         14  construction of a greenway, improvements to the

         15  interchange, I mean those are all important, don't

         16  get me wrong, but it's a multi-billion dollar Bond

         17  Act, and we have a lot of different projects listed

         18  in the tens of millions of dollars, some of them for

         19  less than $10 million; are these part of a

         20  comprehensive strategy? Or are they meant to kind of

         21  like give out goodies to everybody?

         22                 MR. GILCHRIST: Well, they're all part

         23  of a comprehensive strategy, and what I failed to

         24  bring, and I will provide to you, is our

         25  comprehensive list of projects throughout the City.
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          2  Because as I mentioned, the Bond Act really is a

          3  portion of that over three and a half billion

          4  dollars that we'll be spending in the City over the

          5  next five years. And we will get a list to you and

          6  for other members, it's available on our website.

          7  And there are several major investments.

          8                 Doug, if you'd like to talk about a

          9  couple of the larger projects that we're looking at?

         10                 MR. CURREY: Well, maybe just one

         11  quick example is the ITS program. The Bond funding

         12  allows the expansion of the ITS program a little

         13  quicker than it would otherwise, but it is part of a

         14  comprehensive overall system improvement in New York

         15  City. So, that's kind of how the project fits in.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That was one of my

         17  quick questions, the ITS?

         18                 MR. CURREY: I'm sorry. It's

         19  Intelligent Transportation Systems, the cameras,

         20  detectors.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Traffic signals.

         22                 MR. CURREY: Traffic management

         23  program, the signs that talk about traffic and

         24  diversionary routes, it's managing traffic and

         25  improving the flow.
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          2                 MR. GILCHRIST: It's a very good

          3  example, Commissioner Weinshall will be up here

          4  next, but the joint operation center between New

          5  York State and New York City is a very good example

          6  used throughout the country of intergovernmental

          7  cooperation and managing traffic.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, that includes

          9  the camera. You have, on the highways you have --

         10                 MR. GILCHRIST: The message boards.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: -- The message

         12  boards that say traffic is backed up on so and so

         13  highway.

         14                 MR. GILCHRIST: And that's a lot of,

         15  you know, there's certainly not room for us to

         16  expand the capacity within the City or really

         17  anywhere in the State. We're really not in the

         18  business of building new lanes or highways anymore,

         19  and it has proven to be one of our most effective

         20  strategies of managing traffic and increasing fuel

         21  efficiency and reducing delays.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And does that

         23  include traffic lights?

         24                 MR. GILCHRIST: The secret enation of

         25  the traffic lights, which makes the traffic flow
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          2  move better would be part of that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The so-called, the

          4  computerized traffic project?

          5                 MR. GILCHRIST: Yes. And, again, it's

          6  very hard to isolate, because the Bond Act is really

          7  being used primarily for the State highway system,

          8  but when we put together with the City the

          9  comprehensive program for the entire state,

         10  approximately 50 percent of the federal aid that is

         11  spent in the City is spent on the City system.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, $43 million,

         13  that includes --

         14                 MR. GILCHRIST: That's part of a

         15  larger program that's about in the $100 million

         16  range.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         18                 And then my last question is, the $11

         19  million on the clean fuel buses?

         20                 MR. GILCHRIST: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is that something

         22  that the State DOT engages in, in securing or

         23  procuring these clean air buses?

         24                 MR. GILCHRIST: One of the things that

         25  is a hidden secret is how much State DOT is involved
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          2  in. And one of the things we do on a Statewide basis

          3  is we have the oversight of all of the Transit

          4  systems, my boss, the Commissioner, is the Chair of

          5  Capital Program Review Board of the MTA, and what we

          6  do is we fund half of the non-federal share of all

          7  of the Transit purposes except for the MTA, for all

          8  New York City private programs, State DOT was an

          9  active participant, and we've had, the Bond Act is a

         10  continuation of a clean fuel initiative for about

         11  six or seven years to help municipalities purchase

         12  clean fuel vehicles to reduce the pollution caused

         13  by the normal diesel buses, because there's a great

         14  cost differential, as you're aware, between a

         15  traditional diesel bus and either a hybrid electric

         16  bus or a compressed natural gas bus.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So is the $11

         18  million for the additional cost of having clean

         19  fuel, or the actual buses themselves?

         20                 MR. GILCHRIST: No, the additional

         21  cost of adding the clean fuel, recognizing the

         22  traditional state and federal and local funding

         23  program would cover the base cost of a bus, and then

         24  there's up to, I believe, Christ about a --

         25                 MR. BOYLAN: It can be as much as 200
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          2  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, when the MTA

          4  announces that they're going to buy 500 new clean

          5  fuel buses, is that using part of --

          6                 MR. GILCHRIST: No. This money is

          7  separate. This money will be used to help the

          8  funding of the cost of replacement of those buses

          9  that were previously with the private bus operators

         10  and will be with MTA capital. So, those 500 are by

         11  the MTA bus company, then this will go towards some

         12  of those.

         13                 I understand it's confusing because,

         14  remember, this program came together --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: No, no. It's not

         16  confusing at all, it's very clear. You're doing a

         17  great job of explaining it.

         18                 You're saying that there are a lot of

         19  buses that were used by the old private bus

         20  companies in our City that are about to be fully

         21  taken over by the MTA, hopefully by November, that

         22  still use very old buses.

         23                 MR. GILCHRIST: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And, so, this is

         25  going to pay for the incremental amount to get the
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          2  replacement buses to be clean fuel buses as well?

          3                 MR. GILCHRIST: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So the MTA and the

          5  City is going to buy new buses for the MTA to use.

          6  But they probably have money budgeted for standard

          7  buses, where as your additional $11 million would

          8  pay for the --

          9                 MR. GILCHRIST: The incremental cost.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, how many

         11  upgrades, how many buses can we upgrade for $11

         12  million?

         13                 MR. GILCHRIST: Well, I think it was

         14  about 50. We assumed somewhere between the 50 to 70

         15  range, depending on what the final cost will come

         16  in.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Fifty to 70.

         18                 MR. GILCHRIST: It's about a $200,000

         19  increment.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes. So, they had

         21  budgeted somewhere around 450 to 500,000 dollars for

         22  a bus. And then to get it to be clean fuel it

         23  requires another $200,000?

         24                 MR. BOYLAN: No, no. That's in the

         25  cost of the bus, the clean fuel--
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          2                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: The clean fuel

          3  bus in the 500,000 dollar range.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. So, what does

          5  the City or the MTA pay for a standard bus that's

          6  not clean fuel?

          7                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: We haven't

          8  bought standard buses in a long time.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         10                 MR. GILCHRIST: I believe on a

         11  statewide basis, where upstate we've bought some

         12  standard buses, they've been in about the $300,000

         13  range, somewhere between 250 and 300,000 dollars.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right, that makes

         15  more sense because our understanding here is that

         16  the MTA always buys clean fuel buses going forward.

         17                 MR. BOYLAN: Yes, we have for the

         18  better part of the last eight to ten years,

         19  everything has been clean fuel, whether --

         20                 MR. GILCHRIST: I guess the way you

         21  could put this is, because this is aimed really at

         22  trying to make sure that fleet is consistent with

         23  the hybrid electric fleet, is there is either going

         24  to be, you can pay the incremental cost which

         25  allows, if they're buying those, then buy a bigger
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          2  pot of buses, and that's our intent, is to help

          3  improve the air quality and increase the number of

          4  those old buses that are replaced.

          5                 MR. BOYLAN: Yes, replace them quicker

          6  on a quicker basis.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So it's not being

          8  used to fund the incremental cost of making a

          9  standard bus a clean fuel bus?

         10                 MR. GILCHRIST: It really comes down

         11  to however you would like to divide the math. But

         12  we're going to put $11 million towards the purchase

         13  of these vehicles. Absent that money, the MTA

         14  working with the City is going to have to make a

         15  decision within their available money, how many

         16  buses they replace.

         17                 So, we're trying to make our

         18  contribution equal to the amount it would be for

         19  those buses to be the incremental cost.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But you're using the

         21  $11 million to buy roughly 22 buses, clean fuel

         22  buses.

         23                 MR. GILCHRIST: Incremental cost --

         24  let me check. Maybe I used the wrong number.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: When you say
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          2  incremental, maybe I'm just thinking about it wrong.

          3                 There's a standard bus, and there's a

          4  clean fuel bus, and the standard bus is cheaper than

          5  a clean fuel bus. So, when you say incremental, I'm

          6  thinking that there's a price differential.

          7                 MR. GILCHRIST: That's what our intent

          8  is, to pay that price differential, as much as we

          9  can. We'll contribute $11 million out of the $50

         10  million statewide pot to paying for that incremental

         11  cost.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. But every few

         13  months the MTA and the Administration make

         14  announcements that they're going to buy a few

         15  hundred buses, so my understanding is that the MTA

         16  is already budgeted in their capital program, which

         17  they announce whenever it's ready that they're going

         18  to buy new buses. I think they've already got this

         19  in their budget.

         20                 I mean --

         21                 MR. GILCHRIST: This will supplement

         22  the monies that is in the City budget.

         23                 MR. BOYLAN: And will allow us to

         24  replace some of the older non-clean fuel buses on an

         25  accelerated schedule basically. By having those
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          2  additional dollars it will allow us to replace more

          3  buses. Because some of the buses in the fleets that

          4  we're inheriting are close to 15 or 20 years old.

          5  Some of them may be eight or nine years old but they

          6  may not be clean fuel buses. This will help us to

          7  more rapidly replace those buses.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right, I give

          9  up. Thanks very much for your time.

         10                 MR. BOYLAN: You're welcome.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We have lots of

         12  people to hear from. We're honored to be joined by

         13  -- I'm sorry, my bad. We do have Council Member

         14  Helen Sears who has questions for you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: They're very

         16  short.

         17                 It's good to see you again. And, I

         18  believe this Bond Act should pass and we should do

         19  everything we can to see that it happens. My

         20  question is that, it did pass once before in New

         21  York City but it failed Upstate, and I know you're

         22  very limited in what you can do in advocacy, but

         23  what are you doing Upstate that's within your

         24  limitations to do that, as we assume our

         25  responsibilities to carry it Downstate?
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          2                 MR. GILCHRIST: I'll answer that.

          3                 Certainly what we've been doing, and

          4  in fact, the reason I am here and not my

          5  Commissioner today is because he's elsewhere

          6  informing the public as to what's in the Bond Act

          7  for the rest of the Upstate program.

          8                 The other thing that the MTA has been

          9  extremely helpful to us in that education effort is

         10  demonstrating the economic impact of their purchase

         11  of program of everything that goes into their

         12  capital program, the buses, the subway cars and the

         13  economic impact of that Upstate. Because, frankly,

         14  communities like Hornell, Plattsburgh, Yonkers,

         15  Elmira, have reaped the benefit of the MTA's

         16  investment in their commitment to building in New

         17  York State, and we've been providing information to

         18  many of the Upstate representatives and to the

         19  public Upstate at our presentation about the impact

         20  of that program.

         21                 The other thing that is different

         22  from the 2000 Bond Act is that the State Department

         23  of Transportation has really focused its investments

         24  in this program on corridors, and some of the major

         25  corridors that we're investing in, the conversation
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          2  of Route 17 to I-86 and the border crossing

          3  improvements really are to improve trade and improve

          4  the efficiency of the movement of trade from those

          5  communities to their marketplace, which is New York

          6  City. So, we've been really talking to many of the

          7  Upstate communities so that they understand the

          8  importance of this investment, regardless of where

          9  it is, to how it helps support the economy because

         10  of the reliance of the Upstate economy on the

         11  economy of New York City and the metropolitan area.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Have they been

         13  receptive to this, as far as you can tell?

         14                 MR. GILCHRIST: They have been

         15  understanding of that and when we had a series of

         16  presentations last year with the advisory panel that

         17  the Commissioner appointed for 2025 throughout the

         18  State, that is one of the issues that we tried to

         19  emphasize over and over again, was the close

         20  relationship between the State.

         21                 You know, in the end we'll see when

         22  the vote happens, and I'm not in the position of

         23  prediction, but I would just like to assure you that

         24  we've been having that --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: No, I'm not
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          2  asking you to predict. I'm just asking what are the

          3  efforts that have been made that were not done in

          4  the previous one, which I would think the effort is

          5  stronger, it certainly demonstrates that. That's

          6  what I'm asking, not for you to do predictions.

          7                 MR. CURREY: We've made the

          8  information available to the New York State folks

          9  and also to folks who have asked us, and I think

         10  there may be some people who will speak to you later

         11  who actually can take a more active role in dealing

         12  with the population Upstate.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Right. To get

         14  on to, the Second Avenue Subway, you said the first

         15  phase would start.

         16                 MR. CURREY: That's correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Are there three

         18  phases to the Second Avenue Subway? How many phases

         19  are there?

         20                 MR. BOYLAN: I believe there are three

         21  or four phases to the project.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And how do

         23  those other phases get funded, since you need this

         24  to initiate the first phase? I'm mean, that's a

         25  positive question.
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          2                 MR. BOYLAN: No, no, it is. And those

          3  are questions that we'll have to answer as we go

          4  forward to our 2010 and beyond capital program,

          5  Horizons. Right now we budget in five-year capital

          6  program increments and we're dealing with a 2005 to

          7  2009 plan to bite off what is anticipated to be a 16

          8  plus billion dollar project for the full length

          9  Second Avenue Subway is something we probably

         10  couldn't put all in one capital program. So, it will

         11  be something that will play out over the next few

         12  years. But in order to start the process going, we

         13  identified that first section which will have

         14  utility on its own and that's kind of the test that

         15  the feds require when they put money into your

         16  project, that it has to be a section that you can

         17  actually use. You know, don't build a little section

         18  of tunnel like what happened in the seventies

         19  anymore. You can't do that anymore, you have to

         20  build a section that you can use.

         21                 So, we're going to build it in

         22  increments, but we are committed to doing the full

         23  length program. I can't tell you exactly --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay, I

         25  understand.
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          2                 East Side Access, what phase are you

          3  in with that, since it all involves and there is so

          4  much attached to this Bond Act. That's why I asked

          5  that question.

          6                 MR. BOYLAN: We're actually, I guess

          7  you could call it the last phase because there is a

          8  section that exists in the 63rd Street connector

          9  that was already built in the seventies and eighties

         10  and has been maintained ever since. There's about

         11  8,000 feet of tunnel that has been constructed.

         12                 There is no phase that actually works

         13  on its own. You have to connect both ends. So, the

         14  current project will connect both ends.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That connector

         16  works very well. You ought to be congratulated --

         17                 MR. BOYLAN: Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: -- On how that

         19  happens.

         20                 Can you clarify, because I see here

         21  there is a little note of spending a great deal, or

         22  I'm not sure about the quote here, of business

         23  expansion, can you just clarify what that means? Or

         24  is that misinformation on my part?

         25                 MR. BOYLAN: Oh, system expansion?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, no, it

          3  says business expansion. I wouldn't think a systems

          4  expansion would be business.

          5                 MR. BOYLAN: I'm sorry, where is that

          6  indicated?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: In the Bond Act

          8  the MTA would be having 1.45, and of that a great

          9  portion would be towards business expansion. And I

         10  don't know what that means.

         11                 MR. BOYLAN: It should be system

         12  expansion. It should be system expansion. Yes. Which

         13  are the two, our two mega projects and the JFK Rail

         14  Link.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay. And you

         16  may have answered this before, but if the Bond Act

         17  did not go through, where does it leave what you

         18  already started, like the East Side Access, for

         19  instance? Because that I think is one of your

         20  largest capital projects.

         21                 MR. BOYLAN: Well, it's larger than

         22  just the MTA, and maybe I'll rope my colleague from

         23  State DOT into this, because the capital programs of

         24  the MTA and New York State DOT are basically pretty

         25  much connected at the hip, the while $35 billion
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          2  capital program for both the MTA and the State DOT

          3  would have to be revisited.

          4                 Tim, I don't know if you could say

          5  that --

          6                 MR. GILCHRIST: Basically --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That's a very

          8  nerve-racking comment.

          9                 MR. GILCHRIST: Especially --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Because when

         11  you think of the East Side Access and the amount of

         12  money for that, and the fact is that you do need

         13  some of this to really go on with it, that's a very

         14  precarious position you're in.

         15                 MR. GILCHRIST: I would agree.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You would

         17  agree.

         18                 MR. BOYLAN: I think our preferences

         19  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: It doesn't

         21  unnerve me though.

         22                 MR. BOYLAN: Our preference is to have

         23  this as part of our package.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, then I

         25  think we really have to push to see that this Bond
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          2  Act goes through.

          3                 MR. BOYLAN: All right, I thank you

          4  very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          6  Member Sears.

          7                 And thank you, gentlemen, for joining

          8  us today. We're now delighted to have Commissioner

          9  Iris Weinshall from the New York City Department of

         10  Transportation and her colleagues at the Department.

         11                 We've been joined by Council Member

         12  Sara Gonzalez from Brooklyn.

         13                 After Commissioner Weinshall

         14  testifies, we'll hear from Dan Golub from State

         15  Assemblyman Richard Gottfried's office and any other

         16  representatives from elected officials.

         17                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I'm Iris

         18  Weinshall, Commissioner of the New York City

         19  Department of Transportation. With me today is Conan

         20  Freud, Deputy Commissioner at DOT.

         21                 I would like to thank the Council for

         22  inviting me here today on behalf of the Bloomberg

         23  Administration to testify on the Rebuild and Renew

         24  New York Transportation Bond Act of 2005.

         25                 The Bond Act is a comprehensive and
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          2  fiscally responsible plan that will provide $2.9

          3  billion to critical improvements to the State's

          4  transportation infrastructure, create new jobs,

          5  encourage energy conservation, and promote economic

          6  growth.

          7                 Approval of the Bond Act is of vital

          8  importance to New York City. The City's vast

          9  infrastructure is an invaluable complex and

         10  heavily-utilized resource built over the last 200

         11  years. Yet, dependent upon this infrastructure has

         12  its corresponding costs in the deterioration of our

         13  overall stressed system.

         14                 It's important to note that the Bond

         15  Act funding is an integral component in New York

         16  State's 35.9 billion five-year transportation plan

         17  approved by the Governor and the Legislature in

         18  July. Failure to pass the Bond Act would not only

         19  eliminate important Transit capital projects, and

         20  risk the loss of federal matching funds, but would

         21  force the State to reassess the current structure

         22  and funding allocation of all projects in the

         23  five-year plan.

         24                 If approved, an additional $1.15

         25  billion in funding will be made available for work
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          2  within New York City constituting approximately 40

          3  percent of the funding generated by the Bond Act.

          4  $230 million is allocated to the State New York

          5  State Department of Transportation Highway and

          6  Bridge projects within the five boroughs, $42

          7  million for rail freight projects and clean fuel

          8  buses, $326 million for the MTA, state of good

          9  repair projects, and $550 million in MTA expansion

         10  funds.

         11                 While DOT and the City will not be

         12  directly receiving any of these funds, the work

         13  funded by the Bond Act will nonetheless insure the

         14  important work within the City as it gets completed.

         15                 A particular note to the City are the

         16  State highway and bridge projects which will focus

         17  on safety, mobility, rehabilitation, and operational

         18  improvements. The Bond Act allocates $96 million for

         19  improvements to the Grand Central Parkway, Van Wyck

         20  Expressway, Clearview Expressway, Cross Island

         21  Expressway and the Nassau Expressway in Queens.

         22                 Staten Island would receive $48

         23  million for improvements to the West Shore

         24  Expressway and the Korean War Veterans Memorial

         25  Parkway.
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          2                 The Bronx would receive $33 million

          3  to improvements to the Bronx River Greenway, as well

          4  as the Pelham Parkway, Bronx River Parkway, and

          5  Harlem River Parkway. Manhattan would receive $53

          6  million for improvements to the Henry Hudson Parkway

          7  and the FDR Drive.

          8                 We're also very pleased to see that

          9  the MTA fund is being used towards the modernization

         10  of subway cars and buses, track replacement, tunnel

         11  lighting, bus located GPS systems and the Staten

         12  Island Railway bridges.

         13                 Mass transit is critical to the

         14  fabric of the region and thus we believe any funds

         15  used to enhance and support mass transit are funds

         16  well spent.

         17                 The Bond Act also is a fiscally

         18  prudent decision. Although there are concerns about

         19  the State's debt load, the Bond Act is a wise

         20  investment because it funds a long-term capital

         21  project, rather than day-to-day operating expenses,

         22  and offers citizens a direct voice in how their tax

         23  dollars are spent.

         24                 It should also come as little

         25  surprise then that the Bond Act has a wide and
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          2  diverse coalition of supporters and has been

          3  endorsed by numerous trade, labor, business,

          4  environmental and consumer organizations, including

          5  the New York Building Congress, the Regional Plan

          6  Association, Transportation Alternatives, the New

          7  York State Society of Engineers, and the New York

          8  League of Conservation Voters.

          9                 Passage of the Bond Act is an

         10  important step toward securing the transportation

         11  needs of the City of New York. It will provide much

         12  needed additional resources to ensure that the City

         13  remains a vibrant hub of community, culture and

         14  commerce now and the years ahead.

         15                 Thus, the Bloomberg Administration

         16  urges all New Yorkers to vote yes on ballot propose

         17  two, to Rebuild and Renew New York Transportation

         18  Bond Act on November 8th.

         19                 At this time, I would be happy to

         20  take any questions.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for your

         22  testimony, Commissioner. Just a quick question about

         23  the improvements to the various highways in New York

         24  City. $96 million. What are some of the things that

         25  it pays -- well, let's get more specific than that.
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          2  Something like the $33 million for improvements to

          3  the Bronx River Greenway, as well as a couple of

          4  other Bronx Parkways?

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, I'm

          6  sure you're interested in highways in Queens --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm just as

          8  interested as in the Bronx ones.

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I'm sure you

         10  are. But let me just, you mentioned it first.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: As you know,

         13  and Tim mentioned it here from the State, one of the

         14  issues is on the Grand Central, the 94th Street exit

         15  and entrance there's a lot of merging issues, and so

         16  the State project would clearly delineate the

         17  highway from the exit, as well as 111th Street

         18  Ditmars Boulevard, there's also an issue there. So

         19  that's where some of the money would be used.

         20                 Pelham Parkway, the money would be

         21  used to rebuild the bridges over the Pelham Parkway.

         22  There's an issue of the structurability of those

         23  bridges. And a number of the projects in the Harlem

         24  River Parkway and the Bronx River Parkway were

         25  similar to what Mr. Currey was talking about, having
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          2  to do with ITS systems, putting up more message

          3  signs, adding more cameras, just an intelligent

          4  system because these roadways are not completely on

          5  that intelligence system as of yet.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, I mean there's

          7  no Bond Act, or no amount of financing that could

          8  take care of every single need we have in the City.

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The State

         11  representatives talked about a very cooperative

         12  collaboration between the State DOT and the City

         13  DOT, so the projects that they have selected are

         14  that they've selected these projects in full

         15  consultation with your Department?

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, yes,

         17  they have vetted the projects, but also they vetted

         18  through us their five-year capital plan, and as I

         19  mentioned at the beginning of my testimony, this

         20  Bond Act goes hand-in-hand with that five-year plan.

         21  So, clearly there is an almost daily dialogue

         22  between the State and ourselves, as to

         23  prioritization of projects, and working with the

         24  State to make sure that those projects where we need

         25  their help where they are state-owned roads and

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  taking care of in an as quick and expeditious manner

          3  as possible.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And if the Bond Act

          5  does not go through, then these projects would be

          6  cancelled. Would there then be a need to redirect

          7  any funding towards these projects, for example, if

          8  some of these projects are absolutely critical, they

          9  have to be done?

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, then we

         11  would have to work with the State, in terms of their

         12  capital budget and hours, to see where it fits in.

         13                 You know, as you know, the City has a

         14  five-year plan, a ten-year plan, as does the State,

         15  and we try and coordinate those through capital

         16  programs.

         17                 If this doesn't happen, then we would

         18  have to reassess and see what's of a crucial nature,

         19  and what we will have to look at in a capital

         20  budget, as well as they would have to look at in

         21  theirs.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, great. That's

         23  all the questions I have for you.

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Great.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And I believe my
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          2  colleagues are content as well. Thanks very much for

          3  joining us this afternoon.

          4                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I'm always

          5  glad when the Council is content, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          7                 Next we would like to call Dan Golub,

          8  from State Assemblyman Richard Gottfried's office,

          9  and any other elected officials representatives that

         10  we have here.

         11                 Following this panel, we will hear

         12  from Preston Niblack, the Deputy Director from the

         13  Independent Budget Office, and Charles Brecker, the

         14  Research Director at the Citizens' Budget

         15  Commission.

         16                 And, Dan, if I may ask you to

         17  summarize this testimony.

         18                 MR. GOLUB: Yes, thank you. The

         19  Assemblyman Gottfried was unable to be here today

         20  because of the meeting in Rochester. He just wanted

         21  me to thank you for having this important hearing

         22  and the Speaker, and I submitted the testimony for

         23  the record, I'm just going to read a couple of small

         24  parts to avoid what's already been said.

         25                 The Transportation Bond issue is a

                                                            67

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  $2.9 billion proposal to upgrade the State's

          3  subways, buses, bridges, roads and other

          4  transportation.

          5                 Half the money would go to improve

          6  and expand MTA facilities. The system urgently needs

          7  this support.

          8                 Mass transit is how working people go

          9  to work. Part of our responsibility to one another

         10  is the responsibility to support that system. For

         11  subway and bus rider, it is important that the bonds

         12  would be paid out by State tax revenue and not by

         13  higher fares.

         14                 New York State has certainly done

         15  some unwise borrowing, but that's not what the

         16  Transportation Bond issue is about.

         17                 Capital projects like subway

         18  improvements or bridge rebuilding cost more than we

         19  would want to spend in one year's revenue. Since

         20  they served the public for decades it's justifiable

         21  to spread out the cost over the future.

         22                 Some people are reluctant to support

         23  the Bond Act because they disapprove of how the MTA

         24  has made recent decisions about how to spend its

         25  money or dispose of its assets.
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          2                 I have been very critical of the MTA

          3  on these issues. But the Bond Act is not about the

          4  MTA's recent decisions. It's about whether we will

          5  invest in the quality of our transit system, or

          6  allow it to fall into disrepair.

          7                 Thirty years ago New York's leaders

          8  failed to support our transit system. This failure

          9  led to widespread disinvestment and deterioration of

         10  our transportation system, undermining New York as a

         11  place to live, work and invest in.

         12                 If this Bond Act is not approved, we

         13  could face a similar fate. Service and safety will

         14  decline and the pressure to raise fares will

         15  increase.

         16                 Important expansion projects, such as

         17  the Second Avenue Subway and the East Side Access

         18  will remain unfunded, perhaps permanently. New

         19  Yorkers will rely more and more on their cars to get

         20  around, harming the environment and making life much

         21  more difficult for low-income and working people.

         22                 And we will lose a significant

         23  opportunity to put thousands of New Yorkers to work

         24  in good-paying jobs that contribute to our State and

         25  City's fiscal health and well-being.
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          2                 Investing in transportation is one of

          3  the soundest investments New York City can make in

          4  its own future. New York City voters should support

          5  the Bond Act and turn out to vote in large numbers.

          6  I look forward to working with and vote yes on

          7  transportation committees, other elected officials,

          8  civic environmental organizations and labor unions

          9  to campaign for the New York State Transportation

         10  Bond Act.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         13  And we certainly thank Assemblyman Gottfried for his

         14  thoughtful testimony today.

         15                 MR. GOLUB: Thank you, Councilman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Next we'd like to

         17  welcome a panel consisting of Preston Niblack, and

         18  Charles Brecker. And following this panel we'll hear

         19  from Beverly Dolinski, Executive Director of the New

         20  York City Transit Riders Council, and Ademola

         21  Oyefeso, from the Transport Workers Union, Local

         22  100.

         23                 Mr. Niblack, please proceed when

         24  you're prepared.

         25                 MR. NIBLACK: Thank you, Chairman.
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          2                 Good afternoon, members of the

          3  Committee. I'm Preston Niblack, Deputy Director at

          4  the Independent Budget Office.

          5                 I want to just do a small disclaimer

          6  here. Although I'm appearing on the same panel with

          7  Chuck Brecher, we're, of course, a City-funded

          8  independent agency that doesn't have -- that

          9  typically don't take policy decisions on matters so

         10  I'm going to lay out a few issues today for your

         11  consideration.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Your being on the

         13  same panel does not apply anything in any way.

         14                 MR. NIBLACK: That's right. Either

         15  way.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It only allows us to

         17  perhaps ask the same questions of both of you, even

         18  though you could have widely disparate responses.

         19                 MR. NIBLACK: Absolutely.

         20                 So, I won't go through what you

         21  already know about the Bond Act. I'll just go

         22  straight to the two issues that I want to discuss

         23  today, the first about whether the City is getting

         24  its fair share of the proceeds, and the second

         25  regarding the state's debt burden.
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          2                 The first question is whether from

          3  the City's point of view we're getting our fair

          4  share of this 2.9 billion. There are a couple of

          5  different ways to measure a fair share. One is based

          6  on a simple net fiscal impact analysis, are we

          7  getting back in spending what we as State taxpayers

          8  are likely to contribute toward paying off the debt?

          9                 We did a similar analysis to this in

         10  the 2000 Bond Act. On that basis, the City does well

         11  or at least certainly is not worse off since we're

         12  slated to receive at least 40 percent of the

         13  spending about equivalent to the contribution the

         14  City taxpayers make to the State fisc.

         15                 Another approach to valuing fair

         16  share is based on need. How much investment is

         17  needed in each region?

         18                 The memorandum of understanding that

         19  accompanied the capital program, the State capital

         20  program, spells out the goals for the Highways and

         21  Bridges Program, which is, and I quote, to hold

         22  bridge conditions at their 2004 levels, and to focus

         23  resources to improve the condition of the State's

         24  interstate highways.

         25                 Relative to the rest of the State,
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          2  the City's State-owned highways are in generally

          3  good condition, according to the State's 2004

          4  ratings. The City's bridges are in much less good

          5  shape, however, only 48 percent of them are rated in

          6  good or excellent condition, compared to 73 percent

          7  Statewide, which is an average that includes New

          8  York City.

          9                 The capital program seeks only modest

         10  improvement in the condition of highway pavement in

         11  New York City and essentially none in the condition

         12  of the bridges.

         13                 This holding steady approach will not

         14  keep up with continuing growth in the City and the

         15  region. A recent analysis concluded that preventing

         16  further growth in congestion on State highways in

         17  the Downstate region, would require 50 percent more

         18  than what is currently contained in the capital

         19  program. Actually making progress toward reducing

         20  congestion would require more than twice as much as

         21  was approved.

         22                 The second issue concerns the

         23  additional burden the proposed bar would place on

         24  the State's already high debt load. By any measure,

         25  New York State, with almost $50 billion in
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          2  outstanding debt is one of the most heavily indebted

          3  states in the nation. New York has consistently been

          4  ranked in fourth or fifth position in net

          5  tax-supported debt, as a percent of personal income

          6  over the last few years behind Hawaii,

          7  Massachusetts, Connecticut and occasionally New

          8  Jersey.

          9                 Only one state has a lower credit

         10  rating, California, and only one other has the same

         11  rating, that's Louisiana, that was a pre-Katrina

         12  rating.

         13                 There are, of course, alternatives to

         14  general obligation and debt financing, including

         15  driver-related user fees that would more directly

         16  place the burden of financing highway and bridge

         17  maintenance on users.

         18                 There's also plenty of theoretical

         19  justification for having drivers help pay for mass

         20  transit, since its use reduces roadway congestion.

         21                 The State did raise certain taxes and

         22  DMV fees this spring to help fund the capital

         23  program, yielding about 350 million for the total

         24  for the MTA and 42 million this fiscal year for the

         25  highway and bridge trust fund.
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          2                 In this instance we must also

          3  consider the alternatives for financing this 1.45

          4  billion investment in the MTA capital program. If

          5  it's not state debt, it would most likely be more

          6  MTA debt on top of the 9.3 billion in borrowing

          7  already projected for the 2005-2009 capital plan,

          8  which would add another $100 million per year to the

          9  MTA operating budget.

         10                 The MTA could reduce this additional

         11  borrowing by putting some of its projected $900

         12  million surplus for this year toward its capital

         13  program.

         14                 In IBO's view an evaluation of debt

         15  affordability must balance the burden on the State's

         16  economy and budget of servicing the debt against the

         17  need for transportation investments, which are

         18  fundamental to economic growth.

         19                 The question, in other words, is

         20  whether the economic returns from transportation

         21  investments are enough to outweigh the costs to the

         22  State's economy and budget of the additional debt

         23  burden.

         24                 Investments in enhancing mobility

         25  affect both the regions quality of life and its
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          2  economic vitality.

          3                 While we cannot be sure that every

          4  dollar of proposed spending is going to its best

          5  marginal use, we can say that in general, without

          6  adequate investment in our transportation systems,

          7  New York will gradually become a more difficult

          8  place to live and do business in, resulting in a

          9  slower rate of economic growth that will in turn

         10  only exacerbate the burden that the State's debt

         11  load places on the economy.

         12                 The voters must weigh the additional

         13  debt burden against the need for investment to fuel

         14  the continued economic vitality of the City and the

         15  region.

         16                 And thank you again for the chance to

         17  testify today.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         19                 Mr. Brecher.

         20                 MR. BRECHER: Thank you. I am Chuck

         21  Brecher. I'm Research Director at the Citizens'

         22  Budget Commission, which is a nonpartisan civic

         23  organization that does, as Preston indicated, make

         24  recommendations about what we think is good public

         25  policy, and I'm glad to be able to be here today to
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          2  share with you our views of the Transportation Bond

          3  Act.

          4                 I do have a prepared statement which

          5  we circulated. I thought it would be more

          6  interesting for you and maybe for me too, instead of

          7  reading it, I tried to capture the gist of what's in

          8  that statement.

          9                 I'll try and do so with three words

         10  and then three numbers that I think make the point

         11  behind the message of the three words, the three

         12  words are "too much debt." It's precisely one of the

         13  points that Preston was addressing, that the reason

         14  to oppose the Bond Act is that overall, not just the

         15  transportation, but overall the State of New York

         16  has too much debt. There are a variety of ways of

         17  measuring that, and Preston referred to some of them

         18  in citing the high debt burden, we do have more per

         19  capita. The Citizens Budget Commission has done what

         20  we think is a pretty refined and thoughtful analysis

         21  at how you decide what's too much debt. And we put

         22  it out in this publication, New York's Endangered

         23  Future: Debt Beyond Our Means, which is an analysis

         24  of the debt burden in all 50 states that tries to

         25  adjust for what the tax resources available to each
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          2  state are, the missions that each state government

          3  takes on, and the economic shape that each state is

          4  in.

          5                 Based on that we drew a line of a

          6  kind of danger zone of when the State has too much

          7  debt, and New York is one of seven states that are

          8  in that danger zone.

          9                 So, again, the message too much debt

         10  in the aggregate for all things, not just

         11  transportation, and, again, the numbers that I would

         12  encourage you to think about are first the 2.9

         13  billion, which is what the Transportation Bond Act

         14  would authorize to add to borrowing. That in and of

         15  itself is not a huge number relative to debt.

         16                 The second number I think you have to

         17  think about is 46.7 billion. That's the amount that

         18  New York State already has outstanding that has to

         19  be paid back from State sources. And that's the

         20  number that puts us in this danger zone of having

         21  more debt relative to the size of our economy than

         22  every other State except two.

         23                 And then, and that 46.7 billion is up

         24  from where we were five years ago when the previous

         25  Bond Act was defeated, again with a similar analysis
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          2  of high debt.

          3                 The last number I want to mention and

          4  I think is the one that ought to convince everybody

          5  that we ought to be saying no to this Bond Act, is

          6  13.2 billion. And that's the number that will be the

          7  amount the State is authorized to borrow this year,

          8  not the 2.9 in the Transportation Bond Act. The 2.9

          9  is only the amount that the State Legislature had

         10  said we'll ask the voters to vote on. The rest of

         11  it, over $10 billion more in borrowing on top of the

         12  46.7, is what is known in Albany as back-door

         13  borrowing. It is borrowing that will be done on

         14  behalf of the State without voter approval by

         15  authorities and other entities.

         16                 So, what we're saying is not that

         17  these transportation projects aren't worthwhile, but

         18  that the State has an unviable and very burdensome

         19  borrowing habit, and that this is the only

         20  opportunity voters have to say anything about the

         21  46.7 billion, about the 13.2 billion is to vote no

         22  on this 2.9 that they're asking us about. That's the

         23  reason that we have been taking a position against

         24  the Bond Act.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Brecher. There's a very diverse coalition of elected

          3  officials from the top on down to lots of advocacy

          4  organizations, and also organizations with some

          5  interest in this, but I think that the Coalition is

          6  very wide, and there's much more unity this time

          7  around than there was in 2000.

          8                 I understand your commission's

          9  position on this.

         10                 Apart from saying that the debt load

         11  in New York State is already too high, as

         12  benchmarked against other states, is there some kind

         13  of analysis about whether these investments would

         14  actually help in the long run to get out of the debt

         15  burden?

         16                 MR. BRECHER: I think the issue is not

         17  the merits of these particular investments, how this

         18  2.9 billion is being spent, but it's about the size

         19  of the whole capital program, not just the MTA's,

         20  but all of the things the State is spending money on

         21  across the State for a variety of things, and

         22  whether that hasn't been made too large relative to

         23  what we can afford.

         24                 The issue is the discipline of living

         25  within what we can afford to pay back and what we
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          2  want to ask our children to have to pay back.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, the thrust

          4  behind the Commission's position is that the debt

          5  burden is already too high. It's not an analysis of

          6  whether the additional borrowing will actually

          7  improve our economy, thus make our economic

          8  situation healthier, notwithstanding a higher debt

          9  burden.

         10                 MR. BRECHER: Right. But it is not

         11  based on an argument with the economic merits of

         12  these particular transportation projects. What it's

         13  saying is that all of the borrowing that the State

         14  has done, which includes, I might add, $11 billion

         15  that's been borrowed for not any capital purpose but

         16  particularly for operating purposes, which we didn't

         17  get asked about or to vote on, that all of that

         18  money is not necessarily worthwhile.

         19                 So, the only way that voters have to

         20  say Albany is borrowing far too much money, they're

         21  putting a burden on our children that's going to

         22  make it uncompetitive to live here, is when they ask

         23  us about whether we should borrow this money to say,

         24  no, go back to the drawing board and get yourself a

         25  realistic financing plan.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Brecher.

          4                 Mr. Niblack, I'm not sure what the

          5  IBO's view is on this, based on your testimony. We

          6  always appreciate the Independent Budget Officer's

          7  input into all of these issues.

          8                 I think you're saying that from the

          9  point of view of how much financing New York City is

         10  getting which is the additional, the additional debt

         11  burden that New York City residents would assume

         12  through the taxes that we pay in the five boroughs,

         13  it seems to be a fair balance. How much we're

         14  getting, versus how much we're going to have to pay

         15  in future years.

         16                 MR. NIBLACK: Right. For instance, if

         17  we looked at how the spending was allocated in the

         18  Bond Act and 15 percent of it was going to the City,

         19  I think most of us would think that that was not

         20  very fair allocation of resources, and that's a

         21  somewhat simplistic way of looking at it, trying to

         22  extend it by looking at need a little bit, and at

         23  least on one measure of the State's own rankings --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So on a needs basis

         25  --
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          2                 MR. NIBLACK: -- Really were deficient

          3  in certain areas.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: -- It's not

          5  necessarily a fair share if we evaluate the fair

          6  share based on need, because we are much higher need

          7  in terms of transit investments in New York City?

          8                 MR. NIBLACK: Yes. I think certainly

          9  in the area of the State-owned bridges in the City,

         10  you know, you could make an argument for allocating

         11  some additional money towards that to help bring

         12  some of those bridges, some of which are in very

         13  poor condition, up to a state of good repair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 I mean, I guess the obvious thing

         17  there is that there's a political reality that we

         18  have to face also. In 2000, 73 percent of New York

         19  City residents supported and voted for the Bond Act

         20  in that year, whereas 27 percent opposed. And even

         21  with a 73/27 voter ratio in New York City, it was

         22  still disapproved statewide by more than ten points.

         23                 So, we'd like to get all of our needs

         24  or proportionate share of all of our needs met, but

         25  at some point the political reality set in as well.
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          2  And, you know, this year the New York City residents

          3  sentiment may not be that much greater than 73/27,

          4  and, so, we probably need to get more support from

          5  Upstate if we're going to overcome the difficulties

          6  that we experience in the Year 2000.

          7                 MR. NIBLACK: Yes, I understand.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We've been long

          9  since joined by Council Member Oliver Koppell from

         10  the Bronx, and he has questions.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: If I

         12  understand your statement correctly, if I look at

         13  page two, you say that total debt that you claim is

         14  too much, it's 46.7 billion? That's the current debt

         15  load; is that correct?

         16                 MR. BRECHER: Correct. It was as of

         17  the close of the last day of Fiscal Year, right?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay.

         19                 And of that amount, 43 billion is

         20  actually not state borrowing, it's authority

         21  borrowing, correct?

         22                 MR. BRECHER: Well, it is the

         23  liability of the State of New York. The authorities

         24  have issued the bonds, the State assigned contracts

         25  to pay back principal and interest on the bonds.
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          2  It's a way of circumventing the constitutional

          3  requirement that there be a vote on borrowing.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But it is

          5  authority debt, not state debt?

          6                 MR. BRECHER: It is state-supported

          7  debt.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, some of

          9  it is and some of it isn't. There aren't contracts

         10  on all of those bonds by the State. I think on the

         11  MTA bonds there are service contracts that back the

         12  bonds, but certainly not on all --

         13                 MR. BRECHER: And some of the MTA debt

         14  is not included in that total, as well. It is money

         15  that is going to have to be repaid by the funds that

         16  the State gets from its taxpayers, and in that sense

         17  it is State-supported debt.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, first

         19  of all, I don't believe you're correct. If you're

         20  including all authority debt in the 43 billion --

         21                 MR. BRECHER: I'm not including any of

         22  the so-called conduit debt. So, when the Dormitory

         23  Authority borrows on behalf of New York University

         24  or Columbia Presbyterian Hospital, that is not

         25  included there. Borrowing that's done on behalf of
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          2  private entities, this is only debt that is backed

          3  by pledges by the State of New York to pay it with

          4  taxpayers' money.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Are those

          6  pledges that include the payment of principal and

          7  interest as it becomes due? Or is it guarantees?

          8                 MR. BRECHER: Most of them are lease

          9  purchase agreements with the Authorities.

         10                 The Authority builds it, we have a

         11  lease by it and make periodic payments that cover

         12  the debt service.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So you're

         14  saying it only covers debt that the State has

         15  guaranteed to pay as it becomes due. Not guaranteed

         16  to pay if there's a default?

         17                 MR. BRECHER: No, if there is a

         18  default, the state, the entity that issued the bond,

         19  the bond payers would go to the entity and the

         20  entity would say to the State, you have agreed to

         21  pay this back, you have to pay it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: What I'm

         23  trying to get at is to understand, because you're

         24  saying to me that the 43.4 billion is directly an

         25  oblig -- the servicing of that debt is directly an
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          2  obligation of the State on an annual basis.

          3                 MR. BRECHER: Correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. Because

          5  if you looked at it the other way, then the

          6  statement wouldn't be fair. Because the fact that

          7  authorities issued that doesn't mean that it's a

          8  state debt.

          9                 MR. BRECHER: Correct. And there is a

         10  large, I think even larger amount actually, of

         11  authority debt outstanding that is not to be paid

         12  back by the State but is conduit debt of various

         13  sorts, plus is debt that would be paid back by

         14  revenues that the authorities themselves control.

         15                 So, for example, the Thruway

         16  Authority issues debt that's backed by the tolls

         17  that they collect. That's not in the 43 billion --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. Okay.

         19                 MR. BRECHER: They're also issued debt

         20  on behalf of the State Department of Transportation

         21  that they don't ask voters to approve that is

         22  included in the --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay, if

         24  you're limiting it to that then it's consistent. I

         25  wasn't sure whether you were.
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          2                 MR. BRECHER: We're trying to be fair

          3  and accurate.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes, I wanted

          5  to make sure you were. I'm still not necessarily

          6  agreeing with your conclusion, but I wanted to make

          7  sure that I understood what it was.

          8                 So that, I mean, in essence, though,

          9  since the vast majority, over 90 percent of the debt

         10  is actually issued as a result of legislative

         11  approval. We really can't control that number, we,

         12  meaning the voters can't and we can't, because we're

         13  the City Council, we're not the Legislature, so that

         14  in a way what you're saying is that this is sort of

         15  a, to vote against the bond issue is really like a

         16  signal or a notice from the taxpayers to the

         17  Legislature, don't issue any more bonds, or don't

         18  permit the issuance of any more bonds, right?

         19                 MR. BRECHER: That's absolutely

         20  correct. It's not about the merits of these

         21  particular projects. It's about the debt policy that

         22  the State Legislature and Governor have pursued,

         23  and, really, this is the only opportunity we have to

         24  say yes or no about that $46 billion in debt.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But it just
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          2  seems to me, sir, with all respect, and I think

          3  we've clarified where we are here, it just seems to

          4  me that there ought to be a better way of giving a

          5  signal, if you want, to the Legislature, than voting

          6  down a debt issue that has clear merit.

          7                 And by the way, the State is looking,

          8  you know, these days they're looking at public

          9  authorities and public authority debt, it's a major

         10  issue, I just don't think that the way to give a

         11  signal to the State is to say vote down something

         12  that's otherwise good because you don't want them to

         13  vote debt for some other purposes.

         14                 I think you'd have to say these

         15  purposes are not good purposes, and I think that all

         16  the people who testified today, some of which I

         17  didn't hear, but I looked at their statements here,

         18  are all saying this is for a good purpose, and the

         19  IBO has just testified that we're getting,

         20  relatively speaking, our fair share, which is always

         21  a concern on the City. I must say I find the

         22  argument that you make on behalf of the CBO, or CBC,

         23  really unfair or inappropriate.

         24                 If you came and said this is

         25  borrowing for illegitimate or improper purposes, we
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          2  ought to pay this directly out of the State budget

          3  or out of the City budget or out of the MTA budget,

          4  that's one thing. But to say we should vote this

          5  good bond issue down because we want to give a

          6  signal to the legislators who control 90 or more

          7  than 90 percent of the issuance of debt, I think it

          8  would be better for us to all write letters to

          9  legislators.

         10                 MR. BRECHER: I think you've clarified

         11  the issue to which we disagree. What we're saying is

         12  that the State has passed a budget that requires us

         13  to borrow over $13 billion. They've taken the 2.9

         14  billion that may in a sense represent the best of

         15  capital investments and said we'd like you to vote

         16  on that. We're going to borrow the other 10 billion

         17  regardless of what you think. That's not the best

         18  way to make public policy decisions.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: If I agreed

         20  with you I'd say vote them all out. I don't

         21  necessarily agree with you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         23  Member Koppell. And thank you very much for joining

         24  us today.

         25                 MR. BRECHER: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We'd now like to

          3  call on our next panel, Beverly Dolinski, Gene

          4  Russianoff, and Ademola Oyefeso.

          5                 And following this panel we'll have a

          6  panel of very distinguished leaders in industry and

          7  advocacy, Robert Yaro, the President of the Regional

          8  Plan Association, Francis McArdle, the President of

          9  the General Contractors Association, Lee Sanders,

         10  Co-chair of the Empire State Transportation

         11  Authority, and Dr. James Melius, Chairman for the

         12  Vote Yes For Transportation Committee.

         13                 I want to thank all of you for having

         14  some summary of the Bond Act in the testimony. I

         15  would encourage you to bypass that summary just

         16  because we've heard a lot about what the Bond Act

         17  specifically is, but to ask you to address clearly

         18  what your organization's positions are on the Bond

         19  Act and why.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 Beverly, do you want to start?

         22                 MS. DOLINSKY: Yes. We represent the

         23  riders and we feel very strongly about the Bond Act.

         24  As a matter of fact, next Tuesday night, we're going

         25  to have a forum that's open to the public from 5:30
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          2  to 7:00 to let the public know more about the Bond

          3  Act and I'll tell you where it is, it's at NYU's

          4  Kimmel Center (phonetic), in the silver board room

          5  in the ninth floor and our speakers will be former

          6  chairmen, Richard Ravitch, Robert Yaro, the

          7  President of Regional Plan Association and Ernest

          8  Tolerson from the New York City, the Partnership for

          9  New York City.

         10                 The reason we support the Bond Act,

         11  you heard a lot of people today say we support the

         12  expansion projects, we feel very strongly that the

         13  expansion projects will die if this Bond Act goes

         14  down. We don't think that the MTA has the money to

         15  pay for them and $4 billion in federal funding will

         16  not be forthcoming if there is not the local match.

         17                 We also support the Bond Act because

         18  there is $450 million in it for the core program.

         19                 As you know, the MTA asked more for

         20  the core program than it receives from the State.

         21  You talked about the 12 stations, stations were cut

         22  the most. While riders feel very strongly about

         23  stations, they are not as important to the safety

         24  and security of the system, and so we feel that it

         25  is essential that this Bond Act go through in order
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          2  to support the core program. You heard additional

          3  borrowing. We're concerned about the borrowing too,

          4  but how are you going to pay for these projects? I

          5  don't think you can raise the fares enough to pay

          6  for them, debt is growing exponentially at the MTA,

          7  so the MTA cannot keep borrowing. There can come a

          8  time where you'll be spending at least a dollar of

          9  the fare to pay for debt.

         10                 So, what we're asking you today is

         11  that you, who have many, many supporters, get the

         12  supporters to support the Bond Act.

         13                 The overwhelming majority of New

         14  Yorkers understand that our transportation system

         15  must be maintained and improved, but our challenge

         16  is to convince them that the effort to go to the

         17  polls, locate the Bond Act on the ballot and

         18  register their vote is worth it.

         19                 So, we're asking your help in making

         20  a strong case for the Bond Act to the voters.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         23                 Gene, do you want to?

         24                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Thank you. I'm Gene

         25  Russianoff with the NYPIRG Straphangers Campaign,

                                                            93

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  and I'll be very brief. Attached to my testimony is

          3  a fact sheet about the bond act. We are, like

          4  Beverly's group, very strong supporters, and think

          5  that it will do a lot of good for the Transit system

          6  downstate, as well as highways and bridges across

          7  the state.

          8                 My testimony has a bunch of reasons

          9  why we think the Bond Act is good. I'm just going to

         10  highlight two of them. The first is, this is a real

         11  chance for New Yorkers to weigh in and express their

         12  support for Transit and its passage I think will

         13  help create a pro transit climate referendum in

         14  Denver and in San Francisco, have the same exact

         15  effect, and also a very chilling climate about

         16  transit.

         17                 And secondly, we think the bond asks

         18  the State to put its money where its mouth is and

         19  its rhetoric about Transit. When the Bond Act was

         20  voted down in the Year 2000, what the MTA did was

         21  they turned around and they just borrowed more

         22  money, through the back doors, and the result is

         23  there's been tremendous pressure on the fair box and

         24  on service, and by the end of this decade, debt

         25  service will account for about 20 percent of the
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          2  MTA's budget, an extraordinary figure, and I would

          3  say that from our view, the Citizens Budget

          4  Commission view is standing on its head, you turn

          5  down, you turn down this bond act, you almost

          6  guarantee more pressure on the fare, more borrowing

          7  by the agency, and we think that is a mistake.

          8                 So, we, like Beverly, we're hoping

          9  everyone here will work for the Bond's Act passage

         10  on Election Day, November 8th, and I think it's

         11  going to be close, but I think New Yorkers will say

         12  that they want decent transportation and I'm very

         13  hopeful.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. Ademola.

         15                 MR. OYEFESO: Good afternoon, members

         16  of the Committee. I'm here reading testimony on

         17  behalf of Roger Toussaint and for time purposes I'll

         18  just point out a few points, what happens if the

         19  Bond Act fails.

         20                 One is, patching the Bond Act will

         21  not automatically mean improved service, but it may

         22  reduce the temptation to reduce service.

         23                 Passing the Bond Act will not end

         24  efforts to raise the fare but it may take away one

         25  reason for fare hikes.
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          2                 Also, we as Transit workers have a

          3  good reason to see a strong and healthy transit

          4  system. We know that when things go well for mass

          5  transportation, they go well for us, too. But there

          6  is more. Most of us live in New York City and raise

          7  our families here. All of us live in the

          8  Metropolitan area, a strong and healthy transit

          9  system means better conditions and more

         10  opportunities for our family. This is why the

         11  transport workers ask for you all to help pass

         12  proposal to the Transportation Bond Act.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I realize that only

         14  half of the proceeds of the bond act. Only half of

         15  the proceeds of the Bond Act go to the MTA, the

         16  other half go for state highway and bridge projects.

         17  What's your opinion about this vote on November 8th.

         18  Is this really a vote that would, if passed, if

         19  passed be a protransit vote, as Gene described it?

         20  Is it a vote on transit or is it possibly a vote of

         21  confidence on the MTA?

         22                 MS. DOLINSKY: Well, I think it's a

         23  vote on transportation, because last time the Bond

         24  Act went down and it went down Upstate, and so

         25  that's why this time it's divided 50/50 between
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          2  roads and bridges and mass transit, and we're hoping

          3  that, we think it's going to pass downstate. With

          4  all of the thoughts that the MTA has, it does still

          5  carry 8 million people a day and a lot of them are

          6  reasonably satisfied, and if it didn't carry them,

          7  this City would not exist. I mean, it would just be,

          8  it couldn't exist. So we were hoping that all of the

          9  users are going to pass the Bond Act, but we're

         10  hoping that the people upstate realize that their

         11  roads and bridges are in very dire condition, our

         12  roads and bridges down here need a lot of work as

         13  well.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Part of it is that

         15  we need the folks Upstate to support the Bond Act.

         16                 MS. DOLINSKY: Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We need a very high

         18  margin and voting rate in New York City. You know,

         19  not only was there a 73/27 percent differential in

         20  New York City in 2000, but there were a lot of

         21  people who voted on the presidential candidates and

         22  simply didn't vote on the Bond Act. So, we have to

         23  increase the margin and increase, I don't want to

         24  say turnout because they're going to be there

         25  already, but increase the rate at which they are
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          2  actually casting the vote on the Bond Act.

          3                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: I point out that

          4  there's $235 million in the Bond Act for non-MTA

          5  transit properties, so this will mean new bus

          6  service depots and less polluting buses around the

          7  State, there's also money for canals and airports

          8  and it really goes with transportation.

          9                 And we talked to a number of the

         10  environmental groups out of concern that there might

         11  be things in the Bond Act that make us

         12  uncomfortable, and I have the general sense that

         13  it's a fix it first Bond Act, which is instead of

         14  building new, unused highways dedicated to elderly

         15  State Legislators, they're going to use the money to

         16  fix things both Upstate and Downstate.

         17                 And the one other thing I would say

         18  is I think the serious thing in the City is that

         19  while we have -- and I think we will have a very

         20  high positive rate of the bond, people here are not

         21  used to voting on referendum and because of our

         22  ballot face, the proposal will be at the far right

         23  side of the ballot, whereas the rest of the State,

         24  except for Albany, will be right at the top of the

         25  ballot, ahead of the top race, so we're at a
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          2  disadvantage tactically because of the nature of our

          3  ballot face, and so we're going to be doing what we

          4  can through a variety of meetings, including palm

          5  carded, to try and make the drop off rate be less,

          6  and if more people participate in the City, we'll

          7  have a much stronger vote in the City, and so this

          8  is why I consider the Bond Act really an issue of

          9  education, letting people know that it's there, it's

         10  getting obviously modest press and it needs as much

         11  attention as it can get, so I'm very glad that

         12  you're holding these hearings.

         13                 MR. OYEFESO: I know from the TWU

         14  standpoint, we are working with the Vote Yes

         15  Coalition to bring out, to make sure our members in

         16  New York City on Election Day knows about the Bond

         17  Act, and referring to your earlier statement, is

         18  this a referendum on the MTA or is it

         19  transportation? I know for us it's about

         20  transportation, it's about giving the MTA less

         21  excuses for not doing things.

         22                 So, they can't cut service because

         23  they're trying to do expansion projects, they don't

         24  have to sacrifice one for the other. So, it's not

         25  about the MTA, it's about the transportation
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          2  expansion projects.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

          4  and I hope you're right. If it's a vote on transit,

          5  whether you're for or against transit, I think it

          6  has a much better chance of passing.

          7                 Thank you for your time.

          8                 I want to invite our next panel to

          9  join us at the witness table, and thank them for

         10  their extreme patience today. It has been already a

         11  long hearing. We have Robert Yaro from the Regional

         12  Plan Association. We have Francis McArdle from the

         13  General Contractors Association, Elliot Sander, the

         14  Co-Chair of the Empire State Transportation

         15  Association, and Director of Rudin Center for

         16  Transportation Policy and Management. Dr. James

         17  Milius, the Chairman of the Vote Yes for

         18  Transportation Committee, and I'd also like at this

         19  time to ask to join this panel, Richard Anderson,

         20  the President of the New York Building Congress.

         21                 Thank you very much for joining us,

         22  and please proceed.

         23                 MR. YARO: Well, like everyone else,

         24  I've got prepared testimony here which I'll be happy

         25  to answer your questions about, but just to get to
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          2  the punchline. You know, we strongly support the

          3  Bond Act because it rounds out this five-year

          4  capital plan that's needed to sustain the state of

          5  good repair, or improve the state of good repair on

          6  the MTA and the highway system that the Downstate

          7  region, the whole state of New York and the City of

          8  New York depend on. And perhaps most importantly for

          9  the first time in 65 years, since Firoello LaGuardia

         10  was Mayor, these funds make it possible for us to

         11  expand the transit system, to create new capacity in

         12  the transit system.

         13                 And this, I guess what I would

         14  describe as an academic discussion a few minutes ago

         15  about debt service and so forth, the fundamental

         16  problem is that we have a City and regional economy

         17  that have been operating at less than their full

         18  potential for probably a generation or longer, which

         19  is the time that we should have built East Side

         20  Access and Second Avenue Subway and these other

         21  improvements. We haven't had that capacity, we need

         22  to do it now. The last time we put those projects on

         23  the shelf was during the fiscal crisis in the late

         24  seventies, it's taken a quarter of a century to get

         25  them back on track, so we really need to get moving
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          2  with them now.

          3                 So, we strongly support it. We hope

          4  the voters support it. We're part of the Vote Yes

          5  Coalition, and we're going to do everything we can

          6  to try to get, to inform the public about the

          7  importance of these funds.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         10                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Fran McArdle

         11  couldn't stay, so I'll read his testimony.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Sure.

         13                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: And I'll try

         14  and keep it brief.

         15                 We represent the General Contractors

         16  Association. Since 1909 we've represented the heavy

         17  construction industry. Our members are engaged in

         18  the construction and reconstruction of New York

         19  City's infrastructure. We build the roads, bridges

         20  and subways that are funded by the passage of the

         21  Bond Act. We strongly support the Bond Act and we

         22  hope that all New Yorkers go out to vote yes on

         23  proposition 2 on November 8th. And we do that

         24  because it's good transportation policy.

         25                 The reasons for supporting the Bond
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          2  Act are sound. Investment in our transportation

          3  infrastructure is essential to keeping the economy

          4  of New York growing, improving our failing highways

          5  and bridges and to reducing congestion and

          6  protecting our environment.

          7                 The transportation system in New York

          8  City, which drives the economy of the tristate

          9  region, has been the driving force for economic

         10  growth throughout its history. This is no less true

         11  today.

         12                 While our transit and highway systems

         13  were the finest when they were first built, they are

         14  aging and were not designed in many cases for

         15  changing travel demands, significant and reliable

         16  investment in our transportation system is essential

         17  for ensuring the economic vitality of this region.

         18                 We must be able to move workers into

         19  the New York City central business district if we

         20  want the New York City economy to continue to grow.

         21                 The current mass transit lines, the

         22  express buses and roads and bridges are at maximum

         23  capacity. The Bond Act, combined with the federal

         24  transportation dollars it leverages, provides nearly

         25  70 percent of the total funding for the Second
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          2  Avenue Subway East Side Access projects.

          3                 The represents the first expansion of

          4  the subway system in 60 years. The Second Avenue

          5  Subway isn't just about easing overcrowding on the

          6  east side of Manhattan, it's about providing an

          7  opportunity for job growth and expansion that

          8  affects all New York City residents.

          9                 Along with the East Side Access, both

         10  projects also provide critical redundancy in the

         11  event of natural or manmade disasters.

         12                 Just as our transit system is in need

         13  of investment, without adequate funding, bridge and

         14  highway conditions in New York City and the

         15  downstate region will deteriorate over the next five

         16  years.

         17                 The level of funding will determine

         18  whether bridge and pavement conditions improve or

         19  deteriorate. During the 1990s, highway and bridge

         20  repairs led to dramatic improvements in the

         21  condition of these facilities, but there is still a

         22  long way to go to match the conditions found in our

         23  regional competitors.

         24                 New York City's bridge and road

         25  conditions are still far behind the conditions in
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          2  New York suburbs and Upstate. At the same time, if

          3  we do nothing, congestion on our already clogged

          4  roads will continue to worsen, obstructing with

          5  person and goods movement and undermining the

          6  quality of life and economic vitality of the region.

          7                 We cannot grow in New York City or in

          8  the region, if we cannot get goods and material to

          9  people where they work and where they live.

         10                 Already, we are over-dependent on

         11  trucks for freight and goods movement in New York

         12  City. Any failure of our highway and bridge

         13  infrastructure from neglect will be as devastating

         14  to our economy as if terrorists had attacked it with

         15  a bomb.

         16                 Some have criticized the Bond Act as

         17  adding to the State's already high debt load. So

         18  they would have New Yorkers vote down proposition

         19  two, even as they acknowledged that the projects in

         20  which the money will be spent are all valuable.

         21                 This argument is akin to throwing the

         22  baby out with the bathwater. Critics should address

         23  their complaints to the process that permits back

         24  door borrowing to support operating expenses.

         25                 It's not front door borrowing for
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          2  long-term smart capital investments, the sort of

          3  investments for which borrowing is appropriate.

          4                 The GCA urges all New Yorkers to vote

          5  yes on proposition 2. It is the right thing to do

          6  for the right reasons.

          7                 MR. MELIUS: My name is Jim Melius

          8  from the Laborers Union, and I'm also president of

          9  the Vote Yes For Transportation Coalition.

         10                 I think the reason why our unions and

         11  other construction trades support the Bond Act, most

         12  are obvious. It's jobs for our members directly from

         13  the projects, as well as jobs from the economic

         14  growth and expansion that will take place because of

         15  these -- made possible by a good transportation

         16  system in New York City.

         17                 Most of our members, at least of our

         18  union, live in New York City. So, obviously a good

         19  transit system is key for them getting to work for

         20  them, shopping for them, getting around the area and

         21  for their families.

         22                 I should add that nearly every union

         23  in New York State is now openly supporting the Bond

         24  Act, the State Labor Federation and the City Labor

         25  Council down here are going to be actively working
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          2  for the Bond Act this time.

          3                 To address some of your questions you

          4  asked before about what's happening in terms of

          5  outreach Upstate and so forth, Vote Yes is a group

          6  made up of a coalition of the members here. Some of

          7  the other people have already testified, other

          8  groups around the State, environmental groups, and

          9  others I think who may testify later on in this

         10  hearing.

         11                 We were able to come together because

         12  we have spent the last few years talking about

         13  transportation and coming to an agreement on what we

         14  wanted in a new transportation plan, and there have

         15  been a lot more outreach, both by the MTA and the

         16  State DOT to that purpose.

         17                 Lee Sander and I both served on a

         18  state panel that went around New York State last

         19  summer, held hearings, what, nine locations, Lee?

         20  And got input from citizens around the State,

         21  elected officials about what they were looking for

         22  in their transportation system.

         23                 So, we think that the Bond Act this

         24  time reflects that input, and it's much easier for

         25  us all to agree on it.
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          2                 Last time we couldn't agree. The TWU

          3  and the construction trades disagreed. There are

          4  other disagreements among the groups that this time

          5  are supporting the Bond Act.

          6                 We were in the process, we raised a

          7  considerable amount of money, raising more, and our

          8  coalition will be doing extensive advertising and

          9  outreach campaign in the Upstate and in the

         10  Downstate area to educate the voters and hopefully

         11  to motivate them to vote yes on November 8th.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         13                 MR. SANDER: Good afternoon, Chairman.

         14  Thanks for being here. I want to thank you for the

         15  dialogue we've already had on the Bond Act.

         16                 There are three basic points. First,

         17  I'm Lee Sander, and in this capacity co-chairing the

         18  Empire State Transportation Alliance which I do with

         19  Bob Yaro from RPA. Three basic points that I'd like

         20  to make for this afternoon.

         21                 First, there is no question that we

         22  need this investment in transport. Jim just made

         23  reference to the 2025 panel that we had at New York

         24  University at the Rudin Center. We also issued two

         25  significant reports that reinforce that point. Our
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          2  examination of the issue of capacity into the

          3  Central Business District, as well as our

          4  examination of the highway and bridge system in New

          5  York, and there is no argument that if this Bond Act

          6  goes down, that on the highway side we are ready at

          7  a funding level that puts us behind the curve, in

          8  terms of deficiency levels on the highway and bridge

          9  side, and certainly on the transit side we will

         10  begin to slip in terms of the core program, and

         11  obviously in terms of assistant capacity expansion

         12  to deal with the issues that Bob made reference to,

         13  without those projects our economic future is in

         14  peril. That's the first point.

         15                 Second point. Again, reiterating what

         16  Jim said, we have an extraordinary coalition. ESTA,

         17  and that rolls up into the Vote Yes Campaign, groups

         18  from the New York City Partnership, 100 Black Men,

         19  the American Cancer Society, and everything in

         20  between, and it really is an unprecedented and the

         21  strength and breadth of that coalition really speaks

         22  to the merits of our argument.

         23                 Third and lastly, in terms of the

         24  issue of good debt and bad debt, certainly concur

         25  with I think the line of question, Mr. Chairman,
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          2  that you had, and before that Council Member

          3  Koppell. There is no question that this is good

          4  debt. This is precisely the kind of program that you

          5  want to borrow money for. I think that some of us

          6  share the concern that Chuck Brecher spoke to in

          7  terms of bad debt. But this is the last, worst,

          8  stupidest place to criticize borrowing that we have

          9  seen.

         10                 While we respect the CBC and we're

         11  strong supporters in general of that organization,

         12  they're alternative would be to play the equivalent

         13  of Russian Roulette with our transportation system.

         14  Certainly the idea of increased user fees, in an

         15  academic theoretical context makes sense, whom you

         16  talked about the political practicalities of Albany

         17  and getting legislators Upstate to support that, as

         18  well as even Downstate, that's dead on arrival in

         19  Albany. So, I doubt very much that the alternative

         20  proposal that they already put forward a couple of

         21  months ago has any kind of political viability.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         24  I do have a few questions for any or all of you to

         25  address, but you don't all have to address them,
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          2  which has to do with the substance of the Bond Act,

          3  and so I think you're the best panel to really ask

          4  the questions. What's the magic in 2.9 billion? How

          5  did we arrive at that number? Why not 3.9 or why not

          6  2.5?

          7                 MR. SANDER: My sense of that was that

          8  when the Legislature was looking at how to fund the

          9  overall $35 billion program, that that was part of

         10  the factor and in that conversation the State is at

         11  its debt limit and I think that 2.9 brings them

         12  really close to what they can do legally.

         13                 I think were it not for that factor,

         14  my sense is in discussions with staff in the

         15  legislature that they might have entertained a

         16  higher number in the neighborhood of three or four

         17  billion. I think they also took into consideration

         18  they did not want to have such a large number that

         19  made it more difficult to pass politically. I think

         20  that they felt that a more modest number would be

         21  more attractive politically to the voters.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, which is it?

         23  Or is it both? 2.9 is more attractive because it's

         24  less than three? And it also is close to putting the

         25  state at our debt ceiling?
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          2                 MR. SANDER: What I'm saying is that I

          3  think it only leaves a couple hundred million

          4  dollars, if I'm not mistaken, in terms of being at

          5  the limit. So, they did not have the alternative, as

          6  I understand it, of proposing something like 3.5 or

          7  4 billion.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I see.

          9                 MR. SANDER: I would defer to the

         10  State in terms of speaking specifically, but that

         11  was what they conveyed to us.

         12                 MR. YARO: Always precise and rigorous

         13  legislative process that goes on in Albany, that

         14  this was the shortfall essentially. After they put

         15  together sources of financing, there were a series

         16  of tax increases and other earmarked funds and so

         17  forth that were identified for the capital plan.

         18  This was the dollar amount of the shortfall, I think

         19  is probably the most accurate way of presenting it.

         20                 But it was, you know, late at night

         21  and I suspect it could have been a little -- it

         22  would never happen, obviously, in New York City

         23  Council, that kind of process, but --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's a good one,

         25  Mr. Yaro.
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          2                 Well, I mean, it's not likely to be

          3  all of those factors. I think it seems like the main

          4  thrust behind coming up with a 2.9 billion number

          5  was that legally the State probably could have done

          6  three something, but maybe 2.9 sounded more -- it's

          7  kind of like how they always charge us the extra

          8  nine-tenths of a penny at the gas pump.

          9                 MR. YARO: They didn't want to use all

         10  the running room that they had. They wanted to leave

         11  a little bit left over before you hit the absolute

         12  limit. So they could have been in three billion

         13  range, but what they said is they wanted to have

         14  some running room for other stuff. Again, that's one

         15  staff person from the assembly who conveyed that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And the way they

         17  came up with the projects that would add up to $2.9

         18  billion; is that a fully vetted process that you

         19  agree with? I mean, your testimony speaks to the

         20  fact that the 2.9 billion dollars is necessary to

         21  ensure the economic vitality and growth of the New

         22  York region.

         23                 I mean, has your coalition taken a

         24  careful look at all of the items that would be

         25  funded by the proceeds of this Bond Act?
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          2                 MR. YARO: Pretty carefully. And the

          3  program really pulls from the overall NYSDOT

          4  proposed budget that was presented to the

          5  Legislature and the overall five-year intake capital

          6  program that you're familiar with that was presented

          7  to the MTA capital program, U Board (phonetic) by

          8  Chairman Kalikow and Katie Lapp.

          9                 The specific process that they went

         10  through in breaking out what would be covered by

         11  other revenue as compared by the 2.9, as compared by

         12  the 2.9, was a separate process that we were not

         13  involved with and our sense in looking at it was

         14  that it seemed to be a decent distribution and a

         15  good balance between what's core infrastructure for

         16  the MTA, the expansion projects.

         17                 I think that they had to do it over

         18  again, it's possible it might have taken a longer

         19  period of time to nuance that even further, that

         20  this was done over a relatively short period of time

         21  in March and April. Overall, the projects that are

         22  in the overall 35.8 billion dollar program and

         23  specifically 2.9, we feel very strongly about and

         24  our groups have endorsed that. And they reflect,

         25  again, the Committee that we had, the 20/25
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          2  committee with Joe Boardman, and the overall MTA

          3  review process.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, I have two

          5  more questions. One, I think we're all in agreement

          6  that more investment in our transit infrastructure

          7  is better, and that transit public transportation is

          8  an underpinning of economic development in our

          9  region, as it is probably in every other region in

         10  the country and the world.

         11                 So, when you say that this Bond Act

         12  or the passage of this bond that is necessary to

         13  maintain our economic vitality, is that based on the

         14  general principle that more transit or more transit

         15  investment leads to better economic development? Or

         16  has there actually been some kind of analysis done

         17  for these, maybe not each one of these projects, but

         18  major projects as to how much of an economic impact

         19  it would have in terms of future jobs, growth, tax

         20  revenues, et cetera?

         21                 MR. YARO: In general I think you put

         22  your finger on it that it's pretty well documented

         23  that investments in public transportation really do

         24  have a payback, and I think particularly in this

         25  region, given our reliance on public transportation,
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          2  compared with any other region in the country, of

          3  course we're much more reliant on it. This is a

          4  bread and butter issue for the New York region in a

          5  way that it might not be in Phoenix or Denver, let's

          6  say, or Cleveland. So, it's more important here. But

          7  we have looked at the economic benefit, both the

          8  immediate construction benefits, which have been

          9  discussed, but also the long-term economic base

         10  benefits from projects like the Second Avenue

         11  Subway, and even the first phase of Second Avenue,

         12  we'll add about 600,000 daily riders, it's in my

         13  testimony here, they're real time savings. About 20

         14  minutes per day for 600,000 riders, and then we see

         15  it also that in both of these projects add a lot of

         16  new capacity into the core of the region, and Second

         17  Avenue alone we think creates the potential for

         18  something like 86,000 additional jobs along the

         19  whole East Side corridor, running from East Harlem

         20  initially down to 63rd Street, eventually the length

         21  of the island.

         22                 East Side Access provides similar

         23  benefits both in Manhattan, and in Queens, and out

         24  on Long Island. And one of the things that hasn't

         25  been discussed --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But the benefits are

          3  reduced commuting time.

          4                 MR. YARO: Well, the reduced commuting

          5  time, and for current riders, and that's translated

          6  into more productivity, less time, you know, spent

          7  commuting, but also additional capacity for new jobs

          8  in the core. And I would add, and each of these

          9  projects operates in a slightly different way. They

         10  both add new capacity, basically getting people into

         11  the core, distributing people within it,

         12  particularly Second Avenue, the east side adds the

         13  first new capacity in the Long Island Railroad

         14  System, and first new Transit capacity going out to

         15  Queens in decades. And we're very interested in

         16  looking at how that can be captured to the benefit

         17  of Queens commuters who have some of the toughest

         18  commutes in the region, as well as Long Island

         19  commuters.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I understand that

         21  there is lots of benefits from more investment in

         22  mass transit, most of these things that we've heard

         23  about so far are intangible.

         24                 Is there any kind of study that has

         25  been conducted that, for example, looks at the net
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          2  present value of this project, as compared with the

          3  cost of the Bond Act?

          4                 In other words, we're going to borrow

          5  $2.9 billion, and obviously that's going to be

          6  serviced over many years; is there any mention of

          7  additional revenue streams that could be generated

          8  by the improved mass transit? Or is there any kind

          9  of like a net present value of the value of these

         10  investments in today's dollars, as compared to $2.9

         11  billion? I mean, that would be a strong argument to

         12  counter the argument put forth by the Citizens

         13  Budget Commission. Or is net present value too

         14  simplistic a way to look at it?

         15                 MR. YARO: It may be too simplistic

         16  because there are so many less tangible but equally

         17  important values in terms of environmental benefits,

         18  quality of life benefits, and so forth which are

         19  harder to measure.

         20                 We've done an analysis on Second

         21  Avenue Subway of the job creation potential of the

         22  Fiscal benefits that it provides, and I think that

         23  will offer some of the insights that you're looking

         24  for. I'll make sure that we get that to you.

         25                 We haven't done the same analysis on

                                                            118

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  East Side, but the MTA has analyzed travel time

          3  reductions, potential for reduced automobile trips

          4  on the Long Island Expressway and across the East

          5  River bridges. And so some of those numbers can be

          6  gotten out of the MIS that the MTA has completed on

          7  east side access.

          8                 MR. YARO: Another place to look for

          9  it doesn't correlate exactly to the 2.9 in the Bond

         10  Act but is the FCA evaluation of projects and they

         11  have a category in that evaluation about economic

         12  return, and that is one of the reasons why East Side

         13  Access and Second Avenue are the only two highly

         14  recommended projects in the United States.

         15                 Also, going back on the intangible

         16  side, other things to look at is that I also, as you

         17  know, and we had you as a guest of the New York City

         18  -- as a member of the New York City Partnership,

         19  one of the reasons why it's such a high priority in

         20  New York City Partnership is that in terms of

         21  keeping the CEOs and incorporations in New York,

         22  transportation is one of the three to four top items

         23  they raise, and these are the most significant

         24  improvements you can make from an expansion

         25  standpoint in addition to maintaining core program.
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          2                 And other stuff to look at, too,

          3  again, intangible, is a word that Jonathan Bowles

          4  has done for the Center of Urban Future, and in

          5  terms of how these corporations compete for the

          6  highly mobile folks who work in London, work in

          7  Shanghai to compete for those individuals, they are

          8  just not going to live in the Upper East Side and

          9  take the Lex in the next 20 years, and so that's why

         10  you need to be competitive.

         11                 MR. YARO: One last part on that, it's

         12  an intangible, but in the 2000 census, New York, the

         13  New York Region had -- we were number one, and two

         14  features in the census. One was travel times.

         15  Residents of the New York region have the longest

         16  travel times in the country; and, two, the increase

         17  in travel times. And, so, having 600,000 people

         18  knock 20 minutes off their commute twice a day is

         19  not an unimportant asset, it seems to me, and

         20  railroad commuters, it's more like 45 minutes each

         21  way daily.

         22                 And, so, that's a very, very

         23  important travel time savings, and it's something

         24  that I think translates not only in the quality of

         25  life improvement, but real economic advantage for
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          2  the whole region.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Maybe they'll work

          4  40 minutes longer per day.

          5                 MR. YARO: Well, this is the danger

          6  and we'll urge them to kick back and catch a nap and

          7  maybe spend more time with the kids.

          8                 And by the way, when you look at

          9  quality of life surveys across the country, that

         10  becomes a really important economic asset, if we can

         11  shorten up travel times.

         12                 And I think national surveys have

         13  shown what people say at least is travel time

         14  savings would be spent at home with the kids. Now,

         15  whether they're out drinking or working on their

         16  e-mail, you don't really know, but in theory at

         17  least they're home with the kids, and that gives, it

         18  provides all kinds of benefits to the region, so...

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, perhaps some

         20  day soon they'll be able to work on e-mails during

         21  the very long commute that New Yorkers go through.

         22                 I have one more question for any or

         23  all of you, and that concerns the recent pole that

         24  was done by Quinnepac concerning voter sentiment

         25  about the Bond Act. But I do want to thank everyone
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          2  else who has joined us today for the 3:00 portion of

          3  the hearing. We are running a little bit late. It's

          4  going to be on a different topic. I want to thank

          5  you for your patience.

          6                 After this panel, we have one more

          7  panel consisting of Patrick Centolanzi, Felice

          8  Farber and Joanne Derwin. And at this point let me

          9  ask you about the Quinnepac poll that was released

         10  about two weeks ago that showed that there is a wide

         11  swathe of New Yorkers who support the Bond Act; does

         12  anybody want to talk about that a little bit?

         13                 MR. MELIUS: We've seen the poll and

         14  some of the details from the poll. I mean, it shows

         15  somewhat polling that was similar before the 2000

         16  Bond Act, showing, you know, strong support in the

         17  City, lesser support in the surrounding areas, and

         18  lack of support in the Upstate area.

         19                 We've done some additional polling we

         20  think that helps us in terms of our campaign, but we

         21  still have a battle to convince the Upstate voters,

         22  as well as I think what you pointed out, we need to

         23  get the Downstate, the New York City voters to vote,

         24  go to the bottom of that ballot to vote on the Bond

         25  Act. In boroughs in the City last time there were
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          2  over 60 percent of the people that did not vote at

          3  all on the Bond Act. There's a huge number and

          4  that's really where we lost it, was the failure to

          5  vote in the City. Not to turn out to the election,

          6  but the failure to vote on the Bond Act.

          7                 MR. SANDER: The other concern that we

          8  have is the issue of turnout. We hope that the

          9  Merrill race, just from our own perspective, will be

         10  hotly contested so it will be a decent turnout. So,

         11  if it looks as it's going in a particular direction

         12  and that diminishes turnout, then that's not going

         13  to be good for the Bond Act.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: How does this poll

         15  compare to the poll that was done in 2000? Or if

         16  you're not at Liberty to say or you'd rather not

         17  say, that's fine, too.

         18                 MR. MELIUS: The poll in 2000 was also

         19  a public poll and was also similar numbers,

         20  strikingly so.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Downstate and

         22  Upstate?

         23                 MR. MELIUS: Downstate and Upstate,

         24  similar differences, differences even within the

         25  regions of the Upstate.
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          2                 Now, I should say that not all of

          3  that played out on the Election Day in New York

          4  2000. There were differences from the polling that

          5  had been completed just before the Election Day.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I see. So, the

          7  Downstate, the New York City support in that poll

          8  that was conducted a month before the actual vote in

          9  the Year 2000 did not reflect a 73 percent 27

         10  percent support that we saw.

         11                 MR. MELIUS: It didn't reflect that,

         12  but what it failed to pick up I think was the fact

         13  that so many of the people in the Downstate, New

         14  York City, did not vote at all one way or the other

         15  on the Bond Act. So that the drop off was not --

         16  it's very hard to pick that up on the poll, you

         17  asked people are they going to support something?

         18  How do they intend to vote on a particular for a

         19  candidate or for a ballot measure and ballot

         20  measures are more difficult than candidates to call

         21  on, and it's very hard to ask people, well, are you

         22  going to bother to look at the bottom of the ballot?

         23  And it turns out they didn't.

         24                 So, the difference in terms of who

         25  did vote was predicted quite well, the fact that if
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          2  you looked at turnout just so few of the people

          3  actually that drop off, so few people did actually

          4  vote, so they were essentially beaten out by the

          5  better turnout Upstate, in the larger percentage of

          6  the people Upstate who actually voted on the Bond

          7  Act one way or the other. Unfortunately they voted

          8  against it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: As it turns out, in

         10  2000, if we have more than a million people in New

         11  York City who voted in that election and did not

         12  bother to pull a lever for the Bond Act. And all we

         13  needed was 175,000 of them to vote in the same

         14  proportions, whether it be yes or no, as the rest of

         15  the people in New York City did.

         16                 MR. YARO: And that's why we're

         17  encouraging elected officials as yourself to, you

         18  know, as you do, be out there to help convey that

         19  message to the public. The importance of looking for

         20  this referenda and voting for it, had they done that

         21  it would have been passed, and our transportation

         22  system would be in better shape in terms of the

         23  pressure on the MTA and the fare box, and all of the

         24  issues that you're so familiar with.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's fine. But I
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          2  still don't think that that will be sufficient. I

          3  think that your very expensive and impressive

          4  coalition should also work on the MTA and try to

          5  help them get their message out in terms of the good

          6  things that they are doing, and rather than having

          7  the public focus on this nearly 1 billion surplus

          8  that the MTA still hasn't said what they're going to

          9  do with it, at the same time they're asking people

         10  to borrow a billion and a half dollars for the MTA

         11  to use.

         12                 MR. YARO: Those conversations are

         13  ongoing.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good. And I hope

         15  they'll do something.

         16                 I understand that they can't advocate

         17  outright for the passage of the Bond Act, but they

         18  can certainly do and say things that will put the

         19  public at ease about borrowing this much more money

         20  for the MTA.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 We are going to now have our final

         23  panel of witnesses concerning the New York State

         24  Transportation Bond Act consisting of Patrick

         25  Centolanzi, Felice Farber and Joanne Derwin.
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          2                 Immediately after this panel, we will

          3  engage the hearing concerning a Citywide Task Force

          4  on Stoopline Stands in New York City.

          5                 I'd also like to state for the record

          6  that we have testimony submitted from Richard

          7  Anderson, President of the New York Building

          8  Congress, testimony from Manhattan Borough President

          9  C. Virginia Fields, and testimony from Kathryn

         10  Wylde, the President and CEO of the Partnership for

         11  New York City.

         12                 They are all testimony in favor of

         13  the Bond proposal.

         14                 Thanks very much for all your

         15  patience today. Please proceed.

         16                 MS. FARBER: Craig Wilson from New

         17  York League of Conservation Voters asked me to read

         18  in his testimony. I know we're running late, if you

         19  want it just submitted, we can do that as well.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We'd be happy if you

         21  could read the last paragraph and submit the entire

         22  testimony into the written record.

         23                 MS. FARBER: Sure. The New York League

         24  of Conservation Voters strongly supports the passage

         25  of the Bond Act, and they do so because investment
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          2  in transportation is very good for the environment.

          3                 The passage of the Bond Act on

          4  November 8th will help to ensure that the City's

          5  mass transit system is properly funded, a

          6  well-funded, properly maintained and functioning

          7  mass transit system. It means that City residents

          8  are significantly less likely to rely on their cars.

          9                 Fewer cars on City streets and

         10  highways means less pollution and a healthier and

         11  cleaner environment for New Yorkers.

         12                 Because of the substantial health and

         13  environmental benefits the Transportation Bond Act

         14  offered, we urge the City Council to fully support

         15  the proposition, and we encourage all New Yorkers to

         16  vote yes on November 8th.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         18                 MR. CENTOLANZI: Patrick Centolanzi,

         19  from Kew Gardens, Queens, representing the Sierra

         20  Club. I'll be brief. The Sierra Club encourages all

         21  New Yorkers to vote on the transportation Bond Act.

         22  Having listened to the testimony in the discussion,

         23  we feel that this is more a vote for clean air and

         24  no congestion than a vote for good government, bad

         25  government debt or whatever. So, we think you should
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          2  vote on the Bond Act for cleaner air.

          3                 We have done some research and we

          4  found that if these $2.9 billion in bonds were

          5  issued all at once and immediately, they would only

          6  account for 13 percent of the outstanding

          7  state-funded debt, and that voter approved general

          8  obligation debt has decreased markedly over the last

          9  few years.

         10                 Finally, the last successful Bond Act

         11  was the $1.75 billion Clean Air, Clean Water Bond

         12  Act of 1996, and these funds were used in part to

         13  fund the New York City Transit's Clean Fuel Bus

         14  Program, and those funds were used to purchase the

         15  first ten hybrid electric buses that were put out on

         16  the streets of Manhattan in 1999, and as a result,

         17  New York City Transit is the largest clean fuel bus

         18  operator in the world or one of the largest. There

         19  are currently about 1,000 hybrid electric and

         20  compressed natural gas buses in operation. The New

         21  York City Transit Authority has just inked a

         22  contract for 900 more hybrid electric low-floor

         23  buses. These are going to come from Orion Bus

         24  Industries, these buses will be assembled in

         25  Eriskini (phonetic), creating jobs for Upstate New
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          2  York. The propulsion system comes from Johnson City,

          3  more jobs for Upstate New York, and so we support

          4  the Bond Act and hope that you'll support it and the

          5  voters will vote on it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But do you know that

          7  out of $2.9 billion on the Bond Act, only $11

          8  million is going to be used for Clean Air Buses?

          9                 MR. CENTOLANZI: No, that's not

         10  necessarily true. Because that 11 million is the

         11  State Transportation Department for Clean Fuel

         12  Buses. As a matter of fact, there's going to be

         13  about 200 low-floor hybrid electric buses being sold

         14  throughout the State of New York, not in New York

         15  City. That money will be used for that.

         16                 In the Bond Act for the MTA portion,

         17  let me make sure I get this right, in the MTA

         18  portion of the Bond Act, $90 million will be used to

         19  help purchase 900 low-floor hybrid transit buses,

         20  and 450 clean fuel and cruiser coaches.

         21                 So, there's the State Department of

         22  Transportation portion of funds for Clean Fuel

         23  Buses, and then on the MTA side of the Bond Act,

         24  there's 90 million more dollars for clean fuel

         25  buses.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's a good point

          3  here.

          4                 MR. CENTOLANZI: And 238 of those

          5  buses, if I read the press right, 238 of those buses

          6  are earmarked for MTA bus, which will be used to

          7  replace buses for the private takeover, as well as

          8  there's already I think about 400 coaches, I think,

          9  or something like that, now view -- if you ride like

         10  New York Bus Service or the QM1 from I think Queens

         11  Surface or one of those, because at the MTA, if you

         12  pay $5 to ride a bus, you get a coach. So, there are

         13  some brand new gleaming clean fuel and cruiser

         14  coaches in service in the City on the old private

         15  lines.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. But just keep

         17  in mind, $90 million will buy only about 180 buses.

         18                 MR. CENTOLANZI: I understand that.

         19  And the five-year capital plan for the MTA is 1,800

         20  buses, and 900 are low-floor hybrid buses, 150 are

         21  coaches, and another 400 are articulated buses.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Great.

         23                 Well, thank you very much for being

         24  with us this entire afternoon, and we certainly

         25  appreciate your input.
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          2                 MR. CENTOLANZI: It's my pleasure and

          3  my honor.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: At this point, I

          5  just want to ask if anybody else is here to testify

          6  on the New York State Transportation Bond Act?

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 We are now going to begin testimony

          9  on the next phase of this hearing. I want to welcome

         10  everybody to this hearing. My name is John Liu and I

         11  have the privilege of chairing this Committee.

         12                 We are now going to examine proposed

         13  Intro. No. 731-A, which would amend the

         14  Administrative Code to establish a Citywide

         15  Stoopline Task Force.

         16                 The Task Force would consist of seven

         17  members and would convene whenever the Department of

         18  Consumer Affairs or the Department of Transportation

         19  proposes or is required by law to set regulations

         20  related to stoopline stands.

         21                 This task force will be required to

         22  meet at least three times every calendar year.

         23                 At these meetings the task force

         24  would examine issues and concerns related to

         25  stooplines, balancing the needs of pedestrian
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          2  sidewalk access with those small business owners.

          3                 The task force would serve as a

          4  mechanism where small businesses and the general

          5  public can provide input into and feedback on the

          6  rules governing stoopline stands.

          7                 As we all understand, the Council

          8  passed Intro. 699 a couple of months ago. That bill

          9  was vetoed by Mayor Bloomberg. It has since come

         10  back to the Council for a vote on the override.

         11                 We were scheduled to vote on the

         12  override last Wednesday at our Stated Council

         13  Meeting. In the few days leading up to our expected

         14  override of the Mayor's veto, there were many

         15  concerns among myself and my colleagues that the

         16  Department of Transportation and the Administration

         17  were scaring many of our storeowners into thinking

         18  that perhaps half of all these stands would be

         19  disallowed under the new law. That simply is not

         20  true, and I'm disappointed that the Department of

         21  Transportation engaged in such a kind of scare

         22  tactics.

         23                 So, we put in a new bill, 731, that

         24  will help ensure that the DOT and the City

         25  Administration does not unfairly target and punish
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          2  store owners, even as we expect them to uphold the

          3  requirements of Intro. 699.

          4                 And, so, today, we are going to hear

          5  testimony on Intro. 731, a bill that would require

          6  the establishment of this task force, and this bill

          7  would be voted on if it enjoys support by the

          8  Committee next Monday, and then on next Thursday the

          9  Council would vote on both Intro. 699 and Intro.

         10  731.

         11                 We're joined by distinguished leaders

         12  of our business community, and we will hear from Mr.

         13  Sung Soo Kim, the President of the Small Business

         14  Congress of New York, and we only have four people

         15  who are testifying, so you can either go

         16  individually or go together. I leave it up to you.

         17  Go together?

         18                 Come on up.

         19                 Mr. Su Yup Kim, the Chairman of the

         20  Korean American Grocers Association; Chong Sik Lee,

         21  the Executive Vice President of the Korean American

         22  Grocers Association; and Mr. Yo Hyun Kim, the

         23  President of the Korean Association of Manhattan.

         24                 Thanks for joining us once again.

         25  Please state your name clearly for the record and
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          2  proceed with your testimony. Here you have to press

          3  the button so the red light is on.

          4                 MR. KIM: My name is Sung Soo Kim. I'm

          5  the President/CEO of the Small Business Congress of

          6  the City of New York, and my next, Mr. Yo Hyun Kim,

          7  is the President of Korean American Association

          8  Manhattan; and last, Mr. Chong Sik Lee, Executive

          9  Vice President of Korean American Grocers

         10  Association.

         11                 Thank you for offering this

         12  opportunity to address our concerns for Intro. 731.

         13  Actually I found just ten minutes ago I picked up

         14  the 731-A by Mr. Haberman, and I see the huge change

         15  some wording and the technical change from 731 to

         16  731-A, but unfortunately because of the time spent,

         17  I just got this ten minutes ago.

         18                 I have testimony pertaining to Intro.

         19  731, so should you find that something is covered or

         20  answered by 731-A, please extend your concern, not

         21  comment on this, not my mistake. So basically I will

         22  present the 731 today, and we can rejoin the 731-A

         23  later.

         24                 I have to read briefly where there

         25  are actually seven trade organizations named here
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          2  collectively represent 2,126 green grocers,

          3  supermarket owners, bodega owners and florists in

          4  the City. And we collectively oppose Intro. 731,

          5  which prerequisite the passage of Intro. 699, stoop

          6  line stand bill.

          7                 Intro. 699, as numerously addressed,

          8  is absolutely opposed because it is unduly

          9  processed, ungrounded, ill-conceived, risky and

         10  wasteful in its implementation of creating nothing

         11  but the high level uncertainty in operating stoop

         12  line stand.

         13                 Intro. 731 I found is allegedly

         14  expected to cure the negative impacts, possible

         15  negative impact of this Intro. 699. The task force

         16  is good term, but the task force is to consider,

         17  devise and recommend rules to the Department of

         18  Transportation regarding stoop line stand. The

         19  chairman addressed the media on October 11 at City

         20  Hall that the task force would curb unfair

         21  over-enforcements by DOT agents on small businesses

         22  when Intro 699 becomes a law. By the City Charter,

         23  those rules applied to the operation of stoop line

         24  stands are under the jurisdiction, enforcement

         25  jurisdiction of DCA, NYPD, DOS. Here, number two,
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          2  you can see the copy of the City existing code, the

          3  17 code applying to the stoop line operation here.

          4                 So, the only possible DOT concern

          5  regarding the DOT rules, I'm still talking about

          6  731-A, 731, DOT's issuance of certification and

          7  on-site analysis of pedestrian traffic volume. What

          8  you think can be a task force influence on DOT,

          9  there are four reasons why we are opposing the 731.

         10                 Number one, all the rules concerning

         11  the operation stoopline stand are under the

         12  agencies, except the DOT issuance of certification

         13  on pedestrian traffic volume.

         14                 Please don't misguide Intro 731 would

         15  be rightful remedy of negative impact out of 699. It

         16  means, it's one reason.

         17                 Second reason is, we do not expect

         18  any rule proclaimed in the administering of DOT's

         19  only duty on-site analysis of pedestrian traffic

         20  volume. The methodology has been officially declared

         21  to be subjective and risky, creating a high level of

         22  uncertainty.

         23                 I have enclosure of DOT's manual

         24  showing if 699 becomes a law, DOT has to implement

         25  this methodology, and I raise one more time your
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          2  attention.

          3                 I sent the letter of inquiry to

          4  Deputy Commissioner DOT, six location, as of today

          5  at this moment, DOT cannot answer my questions.

          6                 Now, the number three. If DOT rules

          7  should be necessary, then the Council has to amend

          8  existing codes to turn over DOT commissioner's power

          9  to that of DOT. The council should now consult this

         10  matter, I believe with the Department, Law

         11  Department, and it is the unnecessary creation of a

         12  wasteful charter issue, we believe.

         13                 Number four, how much could Intro.

         14  731 protect small businesses from Intro 699's

         15  negative impacts? As shown above, the answer is

         16  nothing. At any rate, the task force has no binding

         17  force to influence any possible DOT rules concerning

         18  the onsite analysis of pedestrian traffic volume.

         19                 We have a very good solution to make.

         20  As I said, we really like the concept of task force.

         21  It's fantastic idea. Intro. 731, I have a different

         22  rationale. So, by using the concept of task force,

         23  we jointly prepare the following proposals:

         24                 Number one, drop Intro. 699 and

         25  Intro. 731 immediately.
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          2                 Number two, install a genuine task

          3  force for surveying Citywide sidewalks to see how

          4  the report shows the seriousness pedestrian safety

          5  and obstacles to pedestrians free pathway.

          6                 The task force should demonstrate

          7  whether existing 17 codes can or cannot resolve the

          8  problems.

          9                 Any bill of a serious one, they have

         10  to request the operation of a task force to get the

         11  basic data survey, and based on that, this

         12  recommendation will be introduced in the bill.

         13                 So, even though at first you try to

         14  put the horse in front of the cart -- I'm sorry, to

         15  put the cart in front of the horse, but still we

         16  like this concept task force. So why dropping two

         17  bills? Please install the task force, yes, and then

         18  let them survey.

         19                 If the report shows seriousness

         20  citywide, and imperative with DOT's on-site analysis

         21  citywide, then reintroduce Intro. 699.

         22                 Number four, if the report shows a

         23  few stores in trouble, it's just local stores, then

         24  taking the following alternatives we're proposing.

         25                 Number one, delete section 1, 20-239
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          2  to withdraw the "DOT's citywide duty of

          3  certification issuance in the process of stoop line

          4  stand license renewal and approval.

          5                 Number two, patch up loopholes stoop

          6  line stand codes, Subchapter G, Section 2-63(b): The

          7  way to measure the two-third free passway. All the

          8  codes are here included, you can see that.

          9                 Now, number three, we'd like to have

         10  a DOT's involvement case-by-case, and then you've

         11  got to amend the subchapter G, Section 2-63(c). It's

         12  showing that the sidewalk stand seriously impede the

         13  pedestrian safety, then these codes, we can input

         14  DOT's role here.

         15                 Number four, we'd like to have the

         16  Council install a local sidewalk safety review board

         17  for each community board.

         18                 This board a very effective channel,

         19  and actually by reading quickly, same point is here.

         20  Now, recommendation of stoopline stand application

         21  for approval/disapproval as practiced by other

         22  sidewalk-related permits. So get the recommendation

         23  through the board.

         24                 Number two, the board may request

         25  Department of Transportation on-site analysis of
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          2  traffic volume and feature of public facilities that

          3  may produce obstacles, as well as the problematic

          4  sidewalk stand.

          5                 And number three, the Board knows

          6  that the best about the local fruit stores, instead

          7  of killing licenses, the board may work on

          8  jettisoning sidewalk obstacles by relocating a bus

          9  stop shelter, bulk mail box, et cetera, while

         10  recommending the reduction of stands' width.

         11                 And all in all, existing codes

         12  perfectly work, 17, to sufficiently enforce the

         13  stoopline stand or the code violations.

         14                 Now, I happen to find 731-A, like I

         15  said maybe 17 minutes, 15 minutes from now, and this

         16  part I cannot commit right now, because I didn't

         17  read it through.

         18                 Thank you, Chairman Liu.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         20                 We are joined by Council Member Leroy

         21  Comrie, the prime sponsor of Intro. 731. First of

         22  all, 731 is a work-in-progress, and after the

         23  initial introduction last Wednesday, we certainly

         24  are going to get more input from other Council

         25  Members as well. And, so, certainly based on the
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          2  input that we received from your respective

          3  organizations, we will amend 731 until it comes for

          4  a vote.

          5                 And we continue to welcome your

          6  comments on 731. The issue here remains that the

          7  Department of Transportation is the agency in

          8  question, not the Department of Consumer Affairs,

          9  and I think in our discussions with you and your

         10  colleagues, there have been many concerns voiced

         11  about how the City enforces even the current

         12  regulations, and we don't have a problem with those.

         13  What we do have a problem with is the fact that the

         14  Department of Transportation has completely

         15  abdicated, abandoned their responsibility to ensure

         16  that there is a balance between space on the

         17  sidewalks for pedestrians, and space on the

         18  sidewalks for stores to use. And it is my opinion

         19  that we must force the Department of Transportation

         20  in the administration into upholding their

         21  responsibility, a responsibility that even your own

         22  materials have stated that for decades these laws

         23  have not been practiced. And, so, we have to remedy

         24  that situation because many of our sidewalks are

         25  getting too crowded, and there are locations where
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          2  there is certainly not a bus stop, because those

          3  locations would be too crowded even for a bus stop,

          4  much less a stoop line stand.

          5                 But as I said earlier, we introduced

          6  731, because the Department of Transportation in the

          7  days leading up to our override of the Mayor's veto,

          8  continue to put scare tactics out there, threatening

          9  that maybe 50 percent of the store stands would

         10  close down, which we certainly disagree with.

         11                 The DOT does not have regulations.

         12  So, when you say that the DOT doesn't even have any

         13  idea how they're going to do that, of course not,

         14  because they haven't been enforcing the law to begin

         15  with.

         16                 So, the process is that we have a

         17  very simple law. Laws are very short. They're not

         18  many pages. In fact, Intro. 699, is really just one

         19  long paragraph, you know, reasonably two average

         20  sized paragraphs. So, it's a very short law.

         21                 But after a legislative body passes a

         22  law, whether it be in the City Council or in the

         23  State Legislature or in Congress, the agency on the

         24  Executive Branch, in this case the Department of

         25  Transportation that is charged with upholding that
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          2  law, then has to come up with a set of regulations

          3  that say exactly how they plan to enforce that law

          4  or to comply with the requirements of that law. That

          5  is called the regulation.

          6                 We passed the law and then we expect

          7  the agency, in this case the DOT, to come up with

          8  regulations. The regulations will not just be two

          9  paragraphs. The regulations will be I expect many,

         10  many pages, because it has to go into the detail of

         11  exactly how they would comply with the requirements

         12  of the new law.

         13                 So, when you say that the DOT doesn't

         14  really know how they're going to do it, of course

         15  not because they don't have regulations. Then you

         16  say, well, the DOT is going to impose severe

         17  hardships on our businesses, and that is a serious

         18  concern that my colleagues have, which is why we put

         19  in 731, to have a task force that will recommend

         20  regulations for the DOT to adopt, and of course in

         21  the City Council, through our oversight powers, we

         22  will make sure that the DOT's final regulations on

         23  how they would enforce and comply with Intro. 699

         24  would not unfairly punish the business owners.

         25                 Intro. 699 was always about, there
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          2  was always a disagreement that the Council had with

          3  the Administration and with the DOT's failure to

          4  strike a balance between pedestrians and score

          5  stands on the sidewalks. DOT already looks at other

          6  things. When you have sidewalk cafes, that has to be

          7  approved by the Department of Transportation,

          8  because it's a private business that uses public

          9  sidewalks.

         10                 There are other private businesses

         11  that use a public sidewalk. Newsstands, for example.

         12  It's a private business on a public sidewalk, and so

         13  the DOT has to make sure that there's enough space

         14  on the public sidewalk for this private business.

         15                 In the case of the store stands,

         16  stoop line stands, DOT has clearly not done its job.

         17  And, so, the Council's disagreement was always with

         18  the Administration and the DOT, not with small

         19  businesses.

         20                 However, because the DOT and the

         21  Administration has obviously given you a great deal

         22  of scary information, we created this new bill,

         23  sponsored by Council Member Comrie, to make sure

         24  that the DOT is not going to unfairly punish the

         25  store owners, as we expect them to strike a balance
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          2  between pedestrians and stores.

          3                 Let me turn the floor over to Council

          4  Member Leroy Comrie to his comments.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chair. And I want to agree with you on the reasons

          7  why Intro. 731 was developed, and also to reinforce

          8  the fact that 731 kind of stands alone from any

          9  other bill because there is a problem DOT has in not

         10  implementing any regulation on the stoop lines.

         11                 As we all know, the stoop lines are

         12  renewed to automatically once per year over the

         13  2,000 different requests are done automatically in

         14  March of every year, and that only highlight the

         15  fact that this bill, that this problem is not being

         16  addressed efficiently by DOT.

         17                 We want to also prevent what has

         18  happened in some areas of the City where because of

         19  their frustration or their inability to effectively

         20  police this themselves what they've done instead is

         21  bring in task force, which effectively come in and

         22  hurt businesses, because instead of just dealing

         23  with the issues around the stoop line, they get into

         24  health issues or sanitation and everything else,

         25  winding up giving businesses more tickets, not
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          2  addressing the original problem which are the stoop

          3  line stands.

          4                 Another issue that we want to make

          5  sure that DOT is regulating this, is because you

          6  take it to the community board level, community

          7  boards would probably work to eliminate as many as

          8  possible, even larger percentage than the scary

          9  analysis that DOT is trying to disseminate,

         10  primarily because they don't want to do the work.

         11  And this is an agency that has the ability to do

         12  that work, they have the personnel to do the work,

         13  they accepted or adopted a policy that they did not

         14  have to worry about this issue.

         15                 You know, I've had meetings with all

         16  people regarding this issue, and everyone has agreed

         17  that there is a problem that needs to be addressed,

         18  and the only issue is how is it effectively

         19  addressed? How can it be done in a comprehensive

         20  manner, utilizing all parties in coming up with a

         21  reasonable solution, which is why I thought of doing

         22  the task force, which would be comprised of business

         23  people that would be involved, experts from DOT, and

         24  people that would understand this problem and would

         25  want to work together in a cooperative manner,

                                                            147

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  because after all, this is a City that has to work

          3  together, understand each other, and we have to be

          4  able to assist business as much as possible to grow

          5  without harming the community. And we have to have,

          6  that requires a delicate balance, that requires

          7  different regulations than it would in Woodhaven,

          8  than it would in Bayside, than it would in

          9  Chinatown, than it would in Mott Haven, and we need

         10  to take all of those subtle differences into

         11  account.

         12                 But the bottom line is right now DOT

         13  has no regulation. They have no policy. They don't

         14  intend to do any policy other than to create scare

         15  tactics and to create more problems by

         16  over-regulating and bringing in joint task force to

         17  deal with a situation that is not going to be a

         18  permanent fix.

         19                 So, I've created 731 after talking

         20  with people, so we should have some real discussion

         21  on what the rules and regulations are. Hopefully we

         22  could come to some determination working together

         23  and having this task force with the Council

         24  oversight, I think would create an ongoing

         25  opportunity to have real discussions about the
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          2  different nuances in the City.

          3                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          5  Member Comrie.

          6                 There are, I can give you a few

          7  examples of the issues that the Task Force would

          8  directly address, and this is based on some very

          9  legitimate concerns that you, Mr. Kim, and your

         10  organizations have expressed to myself and my

         11  colleagues.

         12                 For example, the issue of cost of a

         13  permit for stoop line stands. Under Intro. 699,

         14  there is absolutely no way that enables the City to

         15  pass on those costs, notwithstanding of the wrongful

         16  testimony of the DOT. They simply are not empowered

         17  to pass on those costs to the business owners. The

         18  DOT has a very simple job when it comes to

         19  sidewalks. They are given by the City Council an

         20  annual budget of $550 million. First they said that

         21  it was going to be a million dollars a year,

         22  additional. Then the Mayor said, well, it will be a

         23  few hundred thousand dollars. Obviously, they don't

         24  even have any idea how much it would be, but no

         25  matter how much it would cost the DOT to do its job

                                                            149

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  that they have always had, it's not a new job that

          3  we're giving them. The fact of the matter is that we

          4  are a huge agency, with a $550 million budget that

          5  they can easily use to make sure that the sidewalk

          6  balances are met, and there is no way whatsoever

          7  that they are empowered to pass on those costs.

          8                 Through this task force, that's one

          9  specific issue that we would address, that the City

         10  not pass on the additional cost to the business

         11  owners because the cost has nothing to do with the

         12  businesses, the cost has everything to do with the

         13  City's responsibility to make sure there's enough

         14  room for people to walk on the sidewalks.

         15                 Another issue that we would take up

         16  is, and this is a very legitimate concern, what

         17  happens if the DOT just doesn't do the

         18  certification, and they take months to finish their

         19  certification. Does that mean that during those

         20  months when the DOT has not done its certification

         21  that the stores lose their stance? We don't think

         22  that should be the case. In fact, we would expect

         23  that the DOT does its job on a timely basis, and if

         24  it is late in doing its job, that it's not the small

         25  businesses that are penalized, but in fact, the
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          2  agency itself who is penalized. So that is another

          3  issue that I expect our task force would deal with.

          4                 And there are other very legitimate

          5  concerns that the small business owners have brought

          6  up with regard to their fear that DOT would be

          7  unfairly punitive against the small businesses.

          8                 Mr. Kim, I think you wanted to add

          9  something?

         10                 MR. KIM: Yes, first of all, to

         11  straighten out the fact that, number one, you

         12  mention the 731 stands by itself. It's not related

         13  to 699. Okay, and, number two, DOT doesn't implement

         14  the stoop license codes, that's why you make

         15  regulations now.

         16                 All right, first of all, 731 cannot

         17  exist without passage of 699. All right, we just

         18  feel like this, okay? Just pardon my language, but

         19  I'll be careful, I have no other way to explain,

         20  Koreans feel (spoken in Korean). I tried to find out

         21  in English, but I cannot, I will just spell out what

         22  it is.

         23                 You happen to give a disease to us,

         24  our community, is our expression. Now, on the other

         25  hand, 731 you try to give a cure for everything
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          2  remedy, okay? This giving disease, and remedy. Now,

          3  the 731, if you see carefully all the City code,

          4  here's the City Charter, okay? Okay, Title 19,

          5  Transportation, Chapter 1, stoop line street and

          6  sidewalk. I read over 20 times all last weekend,

          7  talk talk talk talk, there is nothing, DOT's, you

          8  know, involvement, in the sidewalk operation. The

          9  only thing is, DOT's role is newly created, or

         10  reconfirmed through Intro. 699. On-site analysis

         11  pedestrian traffic volume. That's it. That's the

         12  message.

         13                 Which way can you influence this

         14  criteria. This should be your objective. You cannot

         15  be negotiable. By the way, task force doesn't have a

         16  binding force. We don't have a binding force. I've

         17  been sitting on the advisory board, chairman over

         18  six years, four years on Dinkins and three years, or

         19  two years under Giuliani. I know how the task force

         20  is working. We just make recommendation. If you

         21  don't listen, that's the end.

         22                 So, it's part of a community side,

         23  pardon my language, it looks like lip service. Yes,

         24  that's one thing. There is no code relating to DOT

         25  role here. Stoop line stand is for the Department of
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          2  Consumer Affairs, Department of Sanitation, and

          3  NYPD. Your Police Department. Clearly, over 17 kind

          4  of enforcement, I show you here. In there ways you

          5  can revoke the license, so we don't need a DOT

          6  on-site analysis. That's why we're opposing Intro.

          7  699.

          8                 Do you think that DOT has all the

          9  power, they can do all the things and the current

         10  administration, it can help the small business? No,

         11  no, no. It's Consumer Affairs. So, out of this, this

         12  is definitely making sure that Intro. 731 is

         13  prerequisiting the passage of Intro. 699, which will

         14  be trouble. That's why we ask to drop both bills,

         15  and then install the task force. Start again.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Actually, just

         17  to be clear, because actually I'm clear, Mr. Kim.

         18  The fact that DOT has no, what you also elucidated

         19  to me, that DOT has no set regulation at the present

         20  time, and they need to have some regulation at the

         21  present time. And I would hope that once the task

         22  force is appointed, that you would agree to sit on a

         23  task force to come up with the regulations, because

         24  you've shown me yourself that DOT does not have the

         25  ability to do the regulations. So, regulations need
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          2  to be written at some point, and we would hope that

          3  the task force would sit down and do that work and

          4  publicize that work so we could force DOT to write

          5  the regulations that need to be written so that they

          6  can have an effective methodology to do what's

          7  necessary to protect the residents and to also work

          8  on dealing with the obvious situations that are

          9  there. That's really the bottom line to this

         10  legislation. And it does stand separate from 699

         11  because you don't need DOT -- and I'm not going to

         12  belabor that specific point, but you have,

         13  obviously, a need to write some effective

         14  regulations and the best way to do that fairly, I

         15  think, and not leave that under bureaucratic

         16  control, is to have a task force that would be

         17  comprised of, as this says, you know, that this

         18  would be comprised of seven members, four who would

         19  be appointed by the Speaker and the Council and

         20  three appointed by the Mayor, to the extent possible

         21  the Department represent the interest of small

         22  business and the members of the general public.

         23                 Now we want to make sure that those

         24  people that are most affected by this would be able

         25  to sit on the task force. So, that you could, in
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          2  every four months that they have to jointly report

          3  to us on a borough-by-borough basis as to the effect

          4  of the license and enforcement programs, based on

          5  the work that the task force shall also review all

          6  current and proposed procedures, and rules

          7  regulating to the licensing and enforcement of the

          8  stand laws and present to the Department of

          9  Transportation for their consideration proposals or

         10  revisions to the existing rules regarding stoop line

         11  stands. There's nothing in this local law that

         12  refers to 699 or anything else other than what's

         13  already written.

         14                 So, I would hope that you would focus

         15  on that, and the need to resolve the problem. There

         16  is a problem here, and we do need to come up with a

         17  joint way to resolve it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         19  Member Comrie.

         20                 Mr. Kim, I appreciate your comments.

         21  And, again, I would also agree with Council Member

         22  Comrie that Intro. 731 is not directly tied to

         23  Intro. 699. It is true that perhaps without 699,

         24  they would not necessarily have introduced 731 does

         25  stand on its own and that it is important to have a
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          2  task force to address these stoop line stand issues.

          3                 As far as your comments about, you

          4  seem to suggest that the DOT has actually nothing to

          5  do with stoop line stands, and in fact it's only

          6  with the Department of Consumer Affairs that has it.

          7                 Let me ask you, when you showed us

          8  the book, what section are you reading from the

          9  book?

         10                 MR. KIM: Okay, please take your time,

         11  read through Title 19 and Chapter 1. Street and

         12  sidewalk, it's up to -- from page 151 to whatever it

         13  is.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Title 19?

         15                 MR. KIM: Yes, whatever it is.

         16  Whatever it is. DOT has nothing to do stoop line

         17  stand, except on-site analysis of pedestrian traffic

         18  volume.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Hold on. You are

         20  saying, you're reading from the Administrative Code,

         21  I just want to know where you're reading from. You

         22  say chapter, or Title 19? Chapter 1, Title 19?

         23  You're saying that the DOT has nothing to do with

         24  stoop line stands, and you're reading a copy of the

         25  book. So, I just want to make sure that I'm reading
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          2  the same pages that you're reading.

          3                 So, what chapter are you reading?

          4                 MR. KIM: Chapter 1, street and

          5  sidewalk. You read all through. There is nothing to

          6  do with stoop line stand at all. Nothing. Only

          7  Intro. 699 newly stipulates.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: This is a copy of

          9  one section of the Administrative Code.

         10                 Now, the Administrative Code, there

         11  is probably 20 books like this --

         12                 MR. KIM: Eight-thousand pages, I

         13  know.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm not asking you

         15  to read all 8,000 pages.

         16                 MR. KIM: I did twice.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, we should

         18  prepare a proclamation to honor Sung Soo Kim for

         19  having read the entire Administrative Code twice.

         20                 MR. KIM: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Two proclamations.

         22  How is that?

         23                 The Administrative Code is very long,

         24  and, of course, I don't blame you for reading one

         25  section of the Administrative Code, but it's very
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          2  clear that in other parts of the Administrative

          3  Code, it may not say so in this, but it clearly says

          4  so in this part, and in this part.

          5                 MR. KIM: Which one? Which code are

          6  you talking about?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: What we're saying

          8  is, number one, the Department of Transportation,

          9  Chapter 71, this is a description of the Department

         10  of Transportation and what its responsibilities are.

         11                 In the first line, powers and duties,

         12  it says, except as otherwise provided by law, the

         13  Commissioner shall have control over and be

         14  responsible for all those functions and operations

         15  of the City relating to transportation, including,

         16  without limitation, the following:

         17                 Parking and traffic operations. The

         18  Commissioner shall make such rules and regulations

         19  for the conduct of vehicular and pedestrian traffic

         20  in the streets, avenues, highways and parkways of

         21  the City.

         22                 In the very first line it says,

         23  vehicular and pedestrian traffic. So, that's just a

         24  description of what the Department of Transportation

         25  is.
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          2                 Now, let's get to the area of the

          3  code that specifically talks about stoop line

          4  stands. In Chapter 2, title 20, the description of

          5  this section is stoop line stands, requirements.

          6  Stoop line stands. Restrictions. And then here it

          7  says stoop line stands approval.

          8                 MR. KIM: Yes, I know.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But you never

         10  pointed this out. You just said the Department of

         11  Transportation has nothing to do with stoop line

         12  stands.

         13                 MR. KIM: Except on-site analysis and

         14  traffic volume, yes. That's the approval.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But they haven't

         16  been doing that, which is why we have this bill.

         17                 Right now the code says that no

         18  license shall be renewed, meaning no stoop line

         19  stand, because this whole session specifically talks

         20  about stoop line stands. No license shall be renewed

         21  if the Department of Transportation determines that

         22  the stoop line stand's sole license poses an

         23  obstruction of free use of sidewalks by pedestrians.

         24                 That's in the current law right now.

         25  So, you can't say, well, it's only consumer affairs
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          2  that governs stoop line stands, the Department of

          3  Transportation has a very, very clear

          4  responsibility. The problem is, as Council Member

          5  Comrie stated, and as I have stated, the Department

          6  of Transportation has neglected the enforcement or

          7  the fulfillment of its obligations under the law.

          8                 So, what we have proposed and passed

          9  so far, is an amendment to this paragraph. This one

         10  paragraph that specifically talks about how these

         11  stoop line stands are supposed to be approved.

         12                 The Consumer Affairs Department does

         13  this job, and I know you have a lot of problems with

         14  how the Consumer Affairs Department does its job,

         15  and that's something that the task force will

         16  absolutely address.

         17                 But before the Consumer Affairs

         18  Department can even do anything with this stoop line

         19  stand issue, the Department of Transportation

         20  actually has to determine.

         21                 Now, the way it's written right now

         22  is it's a little bit vague. The way the law is

         23  written right now says that no license shall be

         24  renewed unless the DOT determines the stoop line

         25  stand so licensed -- I'm sorry. It says no license
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          2  should be renewed if the DOT determines that the

          3  stoop line stand is an obstruction.

          4                 But it doesn't say, well, the DOT has

          5  to do it. So, it almost gives the DOT an excuse to

          6  not do anything.

          7                 In other words, if the DOT doesn't do

          8  anything, then they're not necessarily breaking the

          9  law, but our problem is it is an issue that has to

         10  be addressed. And so what we've said is that, well,

         11  the DOT must go out and do something and take a look

         12  to make sure that these sidewalks right.

         13                 In response to your point that the

         14  DOT has nothing to do with the stoop line stands, my

         15  point is that DOT has everything to do with stoop

         16  line stands. In fact, it has the first and primary

         17  responsibility to make sure that there's enough

         18  space on that sidewalk before the stoop line stand

         19  is even looked at by Consumer Affairs. The DOT has

         20  the primary responsibility. They have neglected that

         21  responsibility, which is why we have to pass Intro.

         22  699. The disease is not Intro. 699. The disease is

         23  the fact that we have sidewalks that simply do not

         24  have enough space for the stands, and all of the

         25  pedestrian traffic to co-exist. Hence we see
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          2  pedestrians walking into the street just to get by.

          3  You, yourself, have conceded that there is a

          4  problem, not everywhere in the City, and I don't

          5  think this is a problem everywhere in the City, but

          6  that there are certain locations in the City where

          7  the problem does exist, so that disease is a problem

          8  of people having to walk in the street because

          9  there's not enough room on the sidewalks for them to

         10  walk on and that the DOT has not made that balance.

         11                 The cure is Intro. 699. But we want

         12  to make sure that the medicine that we prescribed

         13  does not have too many ill side effects, which is

         14  something that we will introduce and pass Intro. 731

         15  to minimize. But the disease is not the bill. The

         16  disease is the DOT's inability and unwillingness to

         17  fulfill what has been their responsibility for many,

         18  many years, in fact, decades.

         19                 MR. KIM: Chairman, can I ask one

         20  question, please?

         21                 It's true the DOT has not implemented

         22  their duties stipulated in the codes of the City

         23  Charter right now, but it's ten years I believe

         24  before that they did, and they stopped around 20

         25  years now. What do you think, New York City is
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          2  stupid? Just DOT is the only solution panacea?

          3  Without the DOT, the sidewalk stand cannot be

          4  regulated to keep the safety?

          5                 The existing code, as I said, 17 is

          6  more than enough. They can revoke the license three

          7  ways. No problem. You have a problem, right? License

          8  is revoked. It's so easy. That's one point.

          9                 Now City existing code through other

         10  agencies did a good job. The reason why we are

         11  extremely worrying about repeating again and again

         12  is this methodology, if DOT is taking -- I don't

         13  think, they're a responsive agency, how can they

         14  publicly announce and then if you see the

         15  methodology, it's a very risky subject. You think

         16  you can find some fantastic solution to guarantee

         17  objectivity of the analysis? This kind of sad story,

         18  New York, Ed Koch, Mayor Koch, proud of the food

         19  stand, one of the four major New York City features,

         20  I mean you have to think about the 16 percent of

         21  sidewalk street is obstructed by public facilities.

         22  We have a survey done, 16 percent. Stoop line stand

         23  is not the only enemy creating this problem. And we

         24  are very sad we are treated like a criminal. Oh my

         25  God, we are violators, stoop line stands, in trouble
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          2  of sidewalks -- by there all in all, you are

          3  hypothetical, we are hypothetical, that's why we

          4  propose to install, start a task force to do the

          5  Citywide survey first.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We're not

          7  legislating on a hypothetical problem. The problem

          8  is very real. It exists. And even you have conceded

          9  that there is a problem, not everyone in the City,

         10  but in certain locations in the City. Do you think

         11  that it is true that there is a problem in certain

         12  locations? Not everywhere, but in certain locations,

         13  is that a yes or a no?

         14                 MR. KIM: Yes. Why do you use the

         15  Citywide legislative piece I mean?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm going to get to

         17  that. So, Mr. Kim, I want to thank you for being

         18  truthful and honest. You have conceded that it is a

         19  problem in certain parts of the City.

         20                 Now, the DOT is a Citywide agency,

         21  and in fact, you have complained that while I turned

         22  the problem that's in Flushing into a Citywide

         23  issue, actually originally I tried to work with the

         24  DOT to address the specific problems in Flushing.

         25  They failed to do so. So then I tried a bill that
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          2  focuses only on certain streets in Downtown

          3  Flushing. But there are legal problems with that

          4  kind of legislation, because the DOT is a Citywide

          5  agency. We can't simply tell them to enforce their

          6  responsibility in just one area of the City and say

          7  you don't have to do it in the rest of the City,

          8  which is why we have to make sure that the DOT does

          9  its job on a Citywide level consistently across the

         10  board. It's to address a problem that even you

         11  understand exists in some parts of our City.

         12                 Now, we don't want the DOT to go out

         13  there and start acting punitively against the small

         14  businesses. The green grocers and the fruit and

         15  vegetable stands make our City more colorful. I

         16  completely agree with that. I completely agree with

         17  that. And in fact, out of 2,136 stands, my feeling

         18  is that the great majority of them, well over 90

         19  percent, perhaps well over 95 percent of that should

         20  be allowed to continue.

         21                 But there is going to be a small

         22  percentage of these stands that simply cannot be

         23  allowed to exist because they are in very dangerous

         24  locations. Those locations specifically that even

         25  you have talked about where the problem exists.
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          2                 When you mentioned bus stops, what

          3  you're really talking about is bus shelters, right?

          4                 MR. KIM: Bus shelters.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Bus shelters are

          6  also not put anywhere. In fact, the DOT has a very

          7  specific criterion. They look at a location and they

          8  do not allow a bus shelter to be placed there if

          9  that sidewalk is considered too crowded.

         10                 Same thing with newsstands. Same

         11  thing with sidewalk cafes. Same things with almost

         12  all other things that are on sidewalks, except in

         13  the case of stoop lines, the DOT has completely

         14  ignored their responsibility. That is the disease,

         15  the DOT disease we're trying to eradicate. But we

         16  don't want to throw the baby out with the bathwater,

         17  which is why we have come up with a task force to

         18  make sure that the DOT does not unfairly unpunish

         19  our store owners, while it makes sure that there is

         20  a balance between pedestrians and the small stores.

         21                 MR. KIM: Just lastly, just two

         22  things. Thank you very much. Number one, I'd like to

         23  bring to your attention, this is the small business,

         24  following small business initiative, under I think

         25  it's this administration, long history, I am getting
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          2  older, that's why I like old stuff, but not only for

          3  that, old time was good for us.

          4                 Now, you can see this, stoop line

          5  stand is under the program warning. First time you

          6  came down there you have a warning. If you don't

          7  listen to them, because constructing stoop line

          8  stand for Mr. Kim's store, nine items, it cost more

          9  than 15, or 15,000 dollars. Every capital

         10  investment. So, by mistake, they encroach on the

         11  sidewalk, you know, not four foot, but four foot

         12  three inches off, Inspector come down, give a

         13  warning. It's good governmental business-friendly

         14  problem, ask them correct it within two days, two

         15  weeks. If they don't correct it, penalize, yes.

         16                 This is the program, and what you're

         17  saying is going on the wrong direction, enforcing,

         18  keeping older, so you negotiate nationwide --

         19  citywide. That's one thing.

         20                 The second thing is, second part of

         21  my comment is that this uncertainty, they say that

         22  DOT uses scary figures, 50 percent, no. To my

         23  understanding, I assume around the 16 percent,

         24  because 16 percent in the City sidewalk will be in

         25  question to be investigated. Out of this, suppose
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          2  around half of them will be, license will be

          3  revoked. It comes around 100 stores out of 2,000

          4  stores. We cannot survive without the stoop line

          5  stand outside.

          6                 Through case-by-case local laws, I

          7  think through case-by-case intervention we can

          8  resolve much better way. If existing code is the

          9  problem. For example, Flushing, your case,

         10  officially whatever it is, when you may be slow, I

         11  think a case-by-case that my suggestion is very

         12  important. I hope you consider it.

         13                 Last question, I'm going to still put

         14  Intro. 699 on local next Stated Meeting, right?

         15  You're going to do it, right?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Absolutely.

         17                 MR. KIM: Okay. We're opposing it.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. Let me

         20  just answer some of Mr. Kim's questions, and then

         21  we'll hear from you, Mr. Lee.

         22                 The issues that you bring up with

         23  regard to enforcement by the Consumer Affairs

         24  Department, and whether someone loses their permit

         25  because they go out a few inches more than they're
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          2  allowed to, that's the kind of concern that we

          3  actually want to address through the Citywide stoop

          4  line task force, and that's a legitimate concern.

          5                 That is not the substance of what

          6  we're trying to do here.

          7                 What I have actually said is that the

          8  problem is the DOT ignores their responsibilities,

          9  and even the Consumer Affairs' rules are so old,

         10  they don't even make sense anymore.

         11                 I have said that it's not a question

         12  of whether a stoop line should be four feet wide,

         13  five feet wide, or in some cases three feet wide. It

         14  depends on how much pedestrian volume there is on

         15  that location.

         16                 You could have a very narrow

         17  sidewalk, an eight foot sidewalk, but it would be no

         18  problem having a four foot stand on an eight-foot

         19  sidewalk.

         20                 If nobody walks on that sidewalk, you

         21  could have a 30-foot sidewalk. And maybe there's

         22  still not enough space for a four foot stand,

         23  because there is so much pedestrian volume on that

         24  sidewalk. And the point here is that no one has been

         25  looking at that. They simply follow these rules that

                                                            169

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  have been around for decades. They don't make sense

          3  anymore. And, so, what we're saying is that the DOT

          4  has to start putting together some kinds of

          5  standards, so that there is an engineer that looks

          6  at it and understands how to make a balance between

          7  pedestrians and the store needs. And the engineer is

          8  not free to make any kind of judgment that they

          9  want.

         10                 They have to abide by a set of

         11  regulations that they get your input from and the

         12  input from the task force, and also look at what

         13  other municipalities in this City, I mean in this

         14  country are doing. And, so, that's the kind of thing

         15  that we're trying to achieve with this.

         16                 The Department of Consumer Affairs

         17  regulations are so old, most of them don't even make

         18  sense. And I will just point out to you, because I'm

         19  not sure if anybody in this room understands, this

         20  whole concept of stoop line stands, if you ask

         21  anybody on the street, no one has any idea what the

         22  heck a stoop line stand is. I didn't have any idea

         23  what a stoop line stand was before I started

         24  understanding that there was a problem on our

         25  sidewalks. A stoop line stand? Why do they even call
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          2  it a stoop line stand? I mean, it's stupid, is what

          3  it is. A stoop line stand are called stoop line

          4  stands because there was a time in New York City a

          5  long time ago where the buildings, the old

          6  buildings, they always had the stairs from the

          7  building into the sidewalk. That was called a stoop,

          8  the stairs going into the building is called a

          9  stoop.

         10                 But between the stoops, from one

         11  building to the next building, there was space

         12  between the stoops. Well, the stoops already get in

         13  the way of pedestrians. So, the City figured that

         14  the space between the stoops was not really

         15  necessary for pedestrians to use.

         16                 So, they started letting the

         17  businesses and the stores in this case use this

         18  space between the stoops on the sidewalk for stoop

         19  line stands. Now in modern days, meaning 2005, the

         20  buildings that are being built today, they don't

         21  build stoops anymore. In fact, the stoops are rare

         22  in New York City. There are some stoops left in

         23  parts of Brooklyn, parts of Queens, but for the most

         24  part, we do not see these stoops any longer. So then

         25  at some point when the City realized that the stoops
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          2  were disappearing, they came up with this imaginary

          3  concept of a stoop line. That is, they pretend how

          4  far the stoop line will be from the building line,

          5  four feet or five feet, depending in the width of

          6  the sidewalk, in some cases only three feet.

          7                 So, the whole concept of stoop line

          8  stand is an acronymism at best. It doesn't even make

          9  sense in today's world. But the point here is we

         10  don't say that the City should eliminate the stoop

         11  line stands. We simply say that there's a problem on

         12  the sidewalks. I'm not qualified as a Council member

         13  to say how much space there should be on the

         14  sidewalk for pedestrians. You know, you know your

         15  businesses but I don't think you're qualified either

         16  to know how much space is necessary for the

         17  pedestrians. It's only the engineers at DOT, who are

         18  required to conduct the same analyses for

         19  newsstands, for bus shelters, for sidewalk cafes,

         20  that we're asking them to look at stoopline stands,

         21  and that's exactly what we're doing here.

         22                 Mr. Lee, thank you for being patient

         23  with your questions.

         24                 MR. LEE: No problem. I'm going to

         25  tell you a very simple opinion as a business man.
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          2  Frankly speaking, I don't know about the laws, so

          3  I'm talking as a businessman, and I came here as a

          4  businessman. Okay, let's tell you something.

          5                 I think we have sufficient laws, so

          6  we are suffering from many, many laws. In addition

          7  to laws we have very hard situation, okay? First of

          8  all, rent problem and the customers' problem, and

          9  employees' payment problem. So many problems, and

         10  taxi problem, and the ticket problem. We get many

         11  tickets, Fire Department, Building Department,

         12  Health Department. For example, Health Department

         13  inspector come to store, oh, we get the ticket. So,

         14  we have so many problems, as you know, so I

         15  understand it is man-made profit, and Mr. John Liu,

         16  Councilman, Councilman make laws I understand. You

         17  go your way, I go my way, okay? And first of all, we

         18  have sufficient laws, so obviously we don't need any

         19  more laws bothering us. You understand what I mean?

         20  I know if this problem is very serious, we

         21  understand, okay? You understand sidewalk for

         22  pedestrians' safe, okay, I understand. We are

         23  American citizen, too, and New Yorker too. Everybody

         24  understand. But this is not so serious problem, you

         25  understand what I mean? This makes big problem,
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          2  okay, let's make a sidewalk law. No problem. We

          3  support law. Mr. John Liu, we support. Because we

          4  are American citizen and are New Yorker, you

          5  understand what I mean. But we think this is not so

          6  big problem. This is not serious problem, okay?

          7  Without problem, let's go together, we live

          8  together. And I'm businessman. I came to America ten

          9  years ago, but still I'm businessman. Small

         10  businessman, you understand what I mean?

         11                 I work seven days, 24 yours, all day,

         12  all hours we are working, plus still small business

         13  owner, you understand? We cannot climb the high

         14  level. Very hard, very hard. So, we invest next

         15  generation. That's why we give up my life, our life,

         16  okay? That's it. Okay, I invest my daughter, I

         17  invest my son, okay, because we have a language

         18  problem, okay? And so many problems. So, I

         19  understand everything. But this is a big problem,

         20  let's go.

         21                 Okay, later. Later. So please

         22  understand what I mean.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Mr. Lee.

         24  We do understand what you mean and what you are

         25  saying, and really I want to thank you for coming to

                                                            174

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  a City Council hearing, and I know that English is

          3  not your first language, but let me assure you that

          4  your opinion is very clear in what you have said in

          5  English, and I know that it would even be much, much

          6  more clearer and forceful if you had the opportunity

          7  to say it in your native language as well.

          8                 So, I do appreciate you and Mr. Kim

          9  and all of your business leaders for addressing this

         10  issue.

         11                 I still want to say that this has

         12  never been an issue between Council members and the

         13  store owners. It's always been our dissatisfaction

         14  and disappointment at the City and DOT for not doing

         15  their job as indicated by law for decades.

         16                 You state that it is not a serious

         17  problem, and I agree with that. And the vast

         18  majority of the cases where stoop line stands exist,

         19  but there are certain parts of the City where the

         20  problem is extreme, and very, very serious, it's a

         21  small number, it's a small percentage of all the

         22  2,000 stands. But nonetheless it still is a problem.

         23  And, so, we need the DOT to do its job, to come out

         24  and look at the situations.

         25                 We cannot tell them exactly where to
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          2  come out. That would go beyond our authority as a

          3  law-making body, but we simply state that they have

          4  this responsibility to uphold them, and we expect

          5  them to uphold them, and we will make sure that they

          6  are not going out there and unfairly penalizing or

          7  terrorizing any of our small businesses.

          8                 That is not the intent of our bill.

          9  The intent of our bill is to address the many

         10  complaints that we have received about the fact that

         11  there's just not enough space on the sidewalks to

         12  walk.

         13                 And for the DOT to say that they

         14  haven't received any complaints, just shows how

         15  blind they are to this issue. They clearly have

         16  gotten complaints. You ask community boards, they

         17  get complaints also. Ask my office and my

         18  colleagues' offices, we get complaints. And, so,

         19  it's not serious in many part of this City, in most

         20  parts of this City where the stoop line stands

         21  exist. But there are -- it's very clear that there

         22  are some locations where the problem is very

         23  serious, and we have to do something about it and we

         24  expect the DOT to uphold the obligations under the

         25  law.

                                                            176

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 MR. KIM: Councilman, one comment can

          3  I say?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Please.

          5                 MR. KIM: Would you please announce

          6  your schedule for -- we know 699, but Intro. 731?

          7  What's the schedule? When will you have Committee

          8  votes?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I had summarized it

         10  at the beginning of this hearing, and I'll

         11  resummarize it now. It's fine. I was planning to

         12  resummarize it anyway.

         13                 Intro. 731 is, yes, Intro. 731 and A

         14  will be voted on at a Transportation Committee

         15  hearing on Monday.

         16                 MR. KIM: And then after that you

         17  submit to full Council.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: On Monday, October

         19  24th, the Transportation Committee will vote on

         20  Intro. 731-A. And then Intro. 731-A will come for a

         21  first vote by the City Council on October 27th,

         22  along with an override vote of the Mayor's veto of

         23  Intro. 699, at the full Council meeting on October

         24  27th.

         25                 In the meantime, we would certainly
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          2  appreciate any feedback you have on Intro. 731. It's

          3  clear that your organization does not agree with

          4  Intro. 731, but nonetheless there are still issues

          5  that I believe must be addressed by the task force.

          6  I mentioned two of them. The fact that the cost of

          7  the DOT fulfilling its obligations should not be

          8  passed onto small business owners. Number two, if

          9  the DOT delays in doing their job, that also should

         10  not be used to punish the business owners. So those

         11  are very legitimate concerns that your organizations

         12  have brought up and we will address them through

         13  this task force and continually through our

         14  oversight powers in the City Council over how the

         15  DOT operates.

         16                 MR. KIM: Okay, thank you, Councilman.

         17  We'll see you Monday. In the meantime, I just want a

         18  personal appeal to you, you're our Councilman,

         19  you're to protect us. We're disappointed. The

         20  emotional feeling is very high. Very, very angry,

         21  because we expected much from you. That's one

         22  comment.

         23                 Number two, the testimony I

         24  presented, please be kind enough to read through one

         25  more time. I mean, I sincerely wrote down this
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          2  testimony to your concern. I hope you read it and

          3  then give some thoughts about my testimony. Thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, Mr. Kim, I've

          6  read it, and in fact you read it. So, I read it

          7  while you were reading it over. I mean, you read it

          8  almost word-for-word. So, I have read it and I have

          9  read everything that you have provided me, and I

         10  appreciate all of the information.

         11                 But, again, you know, I think your

         12  disagreement is in the fear of the DOT and that they

         13  may be overzealous. We certainly do not want the DOT

         14  or any City agency, including Consumer Affairs, to

         15  be overzealous, but we do expect that they

         16  understand the needs of our pedestrians, as well.

         17                 MR. KIM: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         19  I appreciate your organizations, and you gentlemen

         20  for advocating on behalf of all the small business

         21  owners. Again, at the end of the day, I understand

         22  that emotions run high, which is fine. I will let

         23  you know that obviously there are many New Yorkers

         24  who understand that the City sidewalks are for them

         25  to walk on. And I understand that, and I support

                                                            179

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  having small businesses use the sidewalk, the public

          3  sidewalk when there's enough space, and I'll

          4  continue to support that.

          5                 I also insist on the City making sure

          6  that they uphold their responsibility under the law

          7  to make sure there's enough room on the sidewalk.

          8  Nobody pays rent to use City sidewalks. And they're

          9  supposed to be free and accessible to everybody for

         10  the purpose of walking.

         11                 The Monday hearing where we will

         12  conduct a hearing of this Committee and vote on

         13  Intro. 731 will be at 10:00 on Monday in this room.

         14                 MR. KIM: This room?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's correct.

         16                 Okay, thank you very much.

         17                 MR. LEE: Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: There being no other

         19  testimony, this hearing of the City Council's

         20  Committee on Transportation is hereby adjourned.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 5:00 p.m.)
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